
Citp at arbiicr, jIaacbitett

I. CALL TO ORDER

QDljartcr Committee

CALENDAR FOR THE MEETING
of

THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 16, 2023
CITY COUNCIL CHAMBER

3:00 P.M.

ORDER OF BUSINESS

II. CALL OF THE ROLL

III. REVIEW AND DISCUSSION OF CITY CHARTER AND PROPOSEDAMENDMENTS

IV. SCHEDULING OF PUBLIC HEARING

V. ADJOUNMENT

ENCLOSURES:
— Current City Charter
— 2022 Mayor Suggestions
— 2015 City Council Proposed Amendments
— 2015 Charter Committee Proposed Amendments
— 2015 Law Department Review of Current City Charter



Current City
Charter



CHARTER

FOR THE

CITY OF GARDNER

MASSACHUSETTS

RDW

As Amended to November 8, 1989



CHARTER
FOR TIlE

CITY OF GARDNER
MASSACHUSETTS

As Amended to Novcmber 8, [989

(Acts 1921, Chap. 119, with Amendments thereto)
AN ACT TO INCORPORATE THE CITY OF GARDNER

Be it enacted, etc., asJbllows:

SECTION 1. The inhabitants of the town of Gardner shall continue to be a body corporateand politic under the name of the City of Gardner, and as such shall have, exercise and enjoyall the rights, immunities, powers and privileges and shall be subject to all the duties,liabilities and obligations provided herein or by statute, or otherwise pertaining to cities asmunicipal corporations.

SECTION 2. Upon the acceptance of this act, the selectmen of the town then in office shallforthwith divide the territory of the town into five wards, so that the wards will contain, asnearly as may be consistent with well defined limits, an equal number of voters, and theyshalt designate the wards by numbers. The number of wards may, in any year fixed by lawfor a new division of wards in cities, be changed by vote of the city council, with the divisionof wards in cities, be changed by vote of the city council, with the assent of the mayor; butthe number of wards shall not be less than five.

The selectmen, for the purpose of the first preliminary election and the first regular cityelection, after the acceptance of this act, shall provide suitable polling places and give noticethereof, and shall at least ten days before said preliminary election appoint all proper electionofficers therefore and for said regular city election; and they shall in general have the powersand perform the duties of the board of aldermen in cities under the General Laws, theprovisions of which, so far as may be applicable, shall apply to said elections; and the townclerk shall perform the duties therein assigned to city clerks. The registrars shall causc to beprepared and published, according to law, lists of qualified voters in each of the wardsestablished by selectmen.

SECTION 3. The selectmen shall noti1’ the persons elected at the said first regular cityelection and shall provide and appoint a place for the first meeting of the mayor and councilon the first Monday in January, next ensuing; and shall, by written notice, left at theirrespective places of residence at least twenty-four hours prior to such meeting, notify themayor elect and the councilmen elect, who shall immediately proceed to organize and carryinto effect the provisions of this act, which shall thereupon have full force and effect. Theselectmen shall, in like manner, appoint a place and time for the first meeting of the schoolcommittee, and shall notif’ the members thereof.

chanerfor the City of Gardner, As amended through November 7, 1989 Page 1 of 13



SECTION 4. There shall be a mayor, elected by and from the qualified voters of the city,who shall be the chief executive officer of the city. He shall hold office for the term of twoyears from the first Monday in January following his election and until his successor iselected and qualified.

SECTION 5. The Legislative powers of the city shall be vested in a city council. The citycouncil shalt be composed of not less than eleven members, of whom one shall be electedfrom each ward by and from the qualified voters of that ward, and the remaining membersshall be elected at large by and from the qualified voters of the city. One of its members shallbe elected annually by the council as its president. (At the first regular city election afteracceptance of this act the councilors elected from each ward shall serve for one year andthose elected at large for two years, from the first Monday in January following their electionand until their successors are elected and qualified. (Deleted by Ch. 332 of the Acts of 1936).At each regular city election thereafter, their respective successors shall be elected to servefor two years. If the number of wards shall be increased, as provided in section two, thenumber of couneilors shall also be increased, so that the number of councilors elected at largeshall always exceed by one the number elected by wards.

SECTION 6. All heads of departments and members of municipal boards, except the schoolcommittee, the city clerk, city lseasurer, city auditor and city collector of taxes, officerswhose election is provided for by this act and officials appointed by the governor, shall beappointed by the mayor, subject to confirmation by the city council; but the city solicitorshall be appointed by the mayor, without confirmation by the city council.

SECTION 7. In making his appointments the mayor shall sign and file with the city clerk acertificate in the following form:

CERTIFICATE OF APPOINTMENT

I appoint (name of appointee) to the position of (name of office), and I certify that in myopinion he is a recognized expert in the work which will devolve upon him, and that I makethe appointment solely in the interest of the city.

Mayor.
Or the following form, as the case may be:

I appoint (name of appointee) to the position of (name of office), and I certify that in myopinion he is a person specially fitted by education, training or experience to perform theduties of said office, and that I make the appointment solely in the interest of the city.
Mayor.

SECTION 8. The mayor may, with the approval of a majority of the members of the citycouncil, remove any head of a department or member of a board before the expiration of histerm of office, except members of the school committee, officers elected by the city council,officers whose election is provided for by this act, and official appointed by the governor.

(‘liarterfor the City of Gardner, As ant ended through November 7, 1989 Page 2 of!)



The person removed shall receive a copy of the reasons for his removal in writing: and hemay contest the srnne at a hearing to be given by the city council, at which he shall have theright to be represented by counsel.

SECTION 9. The city clerk, city treasurer, city auditor and city collector of taxes shall beelected by the city council for terms of three years and may be removed at any time by a two-thirds vote of the city council.

SECTION 10. Until superseded under the provisions of this act or by action of the citycouncil, the organization of the executive and administrative departments, and the powersand duties of the officers and employees of said town, shall remain as constituted at the timewhen this act takes fUll effect as provided in section three, but the city council may from timeto time by ordinance, subject to the provisions of this act and in accordance with generallaws, reorganize, consolidate or abolish departments, in whole or in part; may transfer theduties, powers and appropriations of one department to another, in whole or in part; mayestablish new departments; and may increase, reduce, establish or abolish salaries of heads ofdepartments or members of boards. Nothing in this section shall authorize any action inconflict with the civil service laws and the rules and regulations made there under.

SECTION 11. The mayor shall receive for this services such salary as the city council byordinance shall determine and he shall receive no other compensation from the city. Hissalary shall not be increased or diminished during the term for which he is elected.

The council may, by a two thirds vote of all its members, taken by a call oCthe yeas and nays,establish a salary ror its members. Such salary may be reduced but no increase therein shallbe made to take efFect during the year in which the increase is voted. (As amended byChapter 184 of the Acts of 1939 and Compilation of City Ordinance No. 40.)

SECTION 12. On the fourth Tuesday preceding every regular and special city election atwhich any officer mentioned in this act is to be elected, there shall be held a preliminaryelection for the purpose of nominating candidates for such offices as. under the provisions ofthis act, are to be filled at such election. Voters qualified to vote at a regular city electionshall be qualified to vote at a preliminary election. No special election for mayor or anyofficer shall be held after the expiration of forty days from the calling of the preliminaryelection. (See also G.L. Chap. 54 sec. I 03A as amended).

SECTION 13. Any person who is qualified to vote for a candidate for any office mentionedin this act, and who is a candidate for nomination for that office, may have his name as suchcandidate printed on the official ballot to be used at a preliminary election; provided that, atleast twenty-eight (G.E. Chap. 53 sec. 10 as amended) days prior to the preliminary election,he shall file with the city clerk a statement in writing of his candidacy, and with it the petitionof at least fifty voters of the city, qualified to vote for a candidate for the said office. Saidstatement and petition shall be in substantially the following fomt

STATEMENT OF CANDIDATE

I ( ), on oath declare that I reside at (number if any) on (name of street) in the cityof Gardner; that I am a voter therein, qualified to vote for a candidate for the hereinafter

Charterfor rite City of Gardner, As amended through November 7, 1989 Page 3 of 13



mentioned office; that I am a candidate for nomination for the office of (state the office) for(state the tent) to be voted for at the preliminary election for nominations to be held onTuesday. the day of Nineteen hundred and and I request thatmy name be printed as such candidate on the official ballots to be used at said preliminaryelection.

(Signed)

Commonwealth of Massachusetts Worcester, SSSubscribed and sworn to this day of nineteen hundred and , before mc,

(Signed)
Justice of the Peace or (Notary Public)My Commission Expires

PETITION ACCOMPANYING STATEMENT OF CANDIDATE

Whereas (name of candidate) is a candidate for nomination for the office of (state the office)for (state the term), we the undersigned, voters of the city of Gardner, duly qualified to votefor a candidate for said office, do hereby request that the name of said (name of candidate) asa candidate for nomination for said office be printed on the official ballots to be used at thepreliminary election to be held on the Tuesday of, nineteen hundred and . We further statethat we believe him to be of good moral character and qualified to perform the duties of theoffice.

No acceptance by a candidate for nomination named in the said petition shall be necessaryfor its validity or for its filing, and the petition need not be sworn to. The petition may be onone or more papers.

SECTION 14. On the first day, not being Sunday or a legal holiday following the expirationof time for filing above-described statements and petitions, the city clerk shall post in aconspicuous place in the city hall the names and residences of the candidates for nominationwho have duly filed the above-mentioned statements and petitions, as they are to appear onthe official ballots to be used at the preliminary election, except as to the order of the names,and shall cause the ballots to be printed, and the ballots so prepared shall be the officialballots and the only ballots used at the preliminary election. They shall be headed as follows:

OFFICIAL PRELIMINARY BALLOT

Candidates for nomination for the offices of ( ) in the City of Gardner. At a preliminaryelection to be held on the day of in the year nineteen hundred and . (Thc heading shall bevaried in accordance with the office for which nominations are to be made).
SECTION 15. The name of each persons, and of none other, who has filed a statement andaccompanying petition as aforesaid with his residence and the title and term of the office forwhich he is a candidate for nomination, shall be printed on said ballots undcr the designationof office in the order in which they may be drawn by the city clerk, whose duty it shall be tomake such drawing and to give each candidate an opportunity to be present in person or byone representative. Blank space shall be left at the end of each list of candidates fornomination for the different offices equal to the number to be nominated therefore, in whichthe voter may insert the name of any person not printed on the ballot for whom he desires to

clranerfar the City of Gardner, As amended through November 7, 1989 Page 3 of 13



vote for nomination for such office. There shall be printed on said ballots such directions aswill aid the voter, as to wit: “vole for one”, “vote for not more than two”, and the like. (G.L.Chap 54. sec. 42 as amended).

To the name of a candidate for a city office who is an elected incumbent thereof there shallbe added in the same space the words “candidate for re-election” (see G.L. Chap 54, sec. 41as amended).

SECTION 16. No ballot used at any preliminary, special or regular city election shall haveprinted thereon any party or other political designation or mark, and there shall not beappended to the name of any candidate any such party or other political designation or mark,or anything showing how he was nominated, or indicating his views or opinions. (See alsoG.L. Chap. 53, see. 34 as amended).

SECTION 17. The election officers shall, immediately upon the closing of the polls at thepreliminary elections, count the ballots and ascertain the number of votes east in the votingplaces where they officiate for each person for nomination for each office, and shall forthwithmake return thereof to the city clerk upon blanks to be thrnished as in regular city elections.
SECTION 18. On the first day, not being Sunday or a legal holiday. following thepreliminary election, the city clerk shall canvass the returns received from the electionofficers, and shall forthwith dctcrminc the result of the canvass and publish the same in oneor more newspapers published in the city, and shall post the same in a conspicuous place incity ball.

SECTION 19. The two person receiving at a preliminary election the highest and secondhighest number of votes respectively, for any office , shall be the candidates and the onlycandidates for that office whose names shall be printed on the official ballots to be used at thesucceeding regular or special city election. If two or more persons are to be elected to thesame office at such regular or special city election, the several persons, to a number equal totwice the number so to be elected to such office, receiving the highest number of votes fornomination for that office, or all such persons if less than twice the number of those so to beelected, shall be candidates, and except as otherwise provided herein the only candidates, forthat office whose names shall be printed on the official ballots to be used at such regular orspecial city election.

The names shall be printed on the ballots under the designation of the respective offices forwhich they are candidates in the order in which they may be drawn by the city clerk, asprovided in section fifteen. In case two or more persons should receive an equal number ofvotes for the same office at any preliminary election held under this act and one of suchpersons would otherwise be entitled to have his name upon the official ballot then the namesof all such persons shall be placed on the ballot.

SECTION 20. If at the expiration of the time for filing statements of candidates to be votedfor at any preliminary election not more than twice as many such statements have been filedwith the city clerk for the office of mayor, councilor at large, or school committee as thereare candidates to be elected to said offices respectively, the candidates whose statements havethus been filed shall be deemed to have been nominated to said offices respectively, and theirnames shall be used as such regular or special city election, and the city clerk shall not print

Charterfor the City of Gardner, As amended through November 7, 1989 Page 5 of 13



said names upon the ballot to be used a said primary election, and no other nomination tosaid offices shall be made. And if in any ward, at the expiration of the time for filingstatements of candidates to be voted for at any preliminary election, not more than twice asmany such statements have been filed with the city clerk for the office of councilor from suchward as are to be elected, the candidates whose statements have thus been filed shall bedeemed to have been nominated, and their names shall be printed on the official ballot to beused at such regular or special city election, and the city clerk shall not print said names uponthe ballot to be used at said preliminary election, and no other nominations to said officesshall be made. And if it shall appear that no names are to be printed upon the official ballot tobe used at any preliminary election, in any ward or wards of the city, no preliminary electionshall be held in such ward or wards.

SECTION 21. No acceptance of nomination made at a preliminary election shall benecessary for its validity.

SECTION 22. Beginning with the year nineteen hundred and thirty-seven, municipalelections in the city of Gardner for the choice of mayor, councilors and members of theschool committee shall be held biennially on the Tuesday next following the first Monday inNovember in each odd numbered year. (Section 22 is given as amcnded by Chapter 332 Actsof 1936 Section 1).

SECTION 23. On the first Monday in january the mayor-elect and the couneilors-elect shallmeet and be sworn to the faithifil discharge of their duties. The oath may be administered bythe city clerk or by any justice of the peace, and a certificate that the oath has been taken shallbe entered on the journal of the city council. At any meeting thereafter the oath may beadministered, in the presence of the city council, to the mayor, or to any couneilor absentfrom the meeting on the first Monday in January.

SECTION 24. Except as provided in this section, the legislative powers of the city councilmay be exercised as provided by ordinance or rule adopted by it.

I. Except as otherwise provided in this act, every member of the council shall have the rightto vote on any question coming before it. A majority of the council shall constitute a quorum,and the affirmative vote of a majority of all the members of the council shall be necessary toadopt any motion, resolution or ordinance.

2. The city council shall, from time to time, establish rules for its proceedings. Regular andspecial meetings of the council shall be held at a time and place fixed by ordinance. Alllegislative sessions shall be open to the public, and every matter coming before the councilfor action shall be put to vote, the result of which shall be duly recorded. A full and accuratejournal of the proceedings of the council shall be kept, and shall be open to the inspection ofany registered voter of the city.

3. The city clerk shall have such powers and perform such duties as the council may fromtime to time prescribe, in addition to such duties as may be prescribed by law. lie shall keepthe records of the meetings of the council.

SECTION 25. The city council may at any time request from the mayor specific informationupon any municipal matter within its jurisdiction, and may request his presence to answer

Charterfor the 04’ of Gardner, As amended through November 7, 1989 Page 6 of 13



written questions relating thereto at a meeting to be field not earlier than one week after thedate of the receipt by the mayor of said questions. The mayor shall personally, or through ahead of a department or a member of a board, attend such meeting and publicly answer allsuch questions. The person so attending shall not be obliged to answer questions relating toany other matter. The mayor at any time may attend and address the city council in person, orthrough the head of a department or a member of a board, upon any subject. The council, orany committee thereof duly authorized by the council so to do. may investigate the financialtransactions of any office or department of the city government, and the official acts andconduct of any official, and, by similar investigations, may secure information upon anymatter.

SECTION 26. No ordinance shall be passed finally on the date on which it is introduced,except in cases of special emergency involving the health or safety of the people or theirproperty.

No ordinance shall be regarded as an emergency measure unless the emergency is definedand declared in a preamble thereto separately voted on and receiving the affirmative vote oftwo thirds of the members of the city council.

No ordinance making a grant, renewal or extension, whatever its kind or nature, of anyfranchise or special privilege shall be passed as an emergency measure, and except asprovided in sections seventy and seventy-one of chapter one hundred and sixty-four of theGeneral Laws and in chapter one hundred and sixty-six thereof, no such grant, renewal orextension shall be made otherwise then by ordinance.

SECTION 27. No ordinance, or part thereof, shall be amended or annulled except by anordinance adopted in accordance with the provisions of this act.

SECTION 28. Any ordinance, order or resolution may be passed through all its stages oflegislation at one session, provided that no member of the council objects thereto; but if anymember of the council objects, further action on the measure shall, unless it is an emergencymeasure as defined in section twenty-six. be postponed for that meeting.

SECTION 29. Every proposed ordinance, except emergency measures, as hereinbeforedefined, shall at least ten days before its final passage, be published in full in at least onenewspaper of the city, and in any additional manner that may be provided by ordinance.
After final passage, it shall, in the same manner as before, again be published once, asamended and completed, except in the ease of an emergency ordinance which may be passedas hereinbefore provided and which shall take effect on its passage, and shall so be publishedat the earliest practicable moment. (Section 29 is given as amended by Chapter 65 of the Actsof 1935.)

SECTION 30. Every order, ordinance. rcsolution and vote relative to the affairs of the city,adopted or passed by the city council, shall be presented to the mayor for his approval. If heapproves it he shall sign it; if he disapproves it he shall return it, with his objections inwriting, to the city council, which shall enter his objections at large on its records, and againconsider it. If the city council, notwithstanding such disapproval of the mayor, shall againpass such order, ordinance, resolution or vote by a two thirds vote of all the members of the

C’harterfor the City of Gardner, As amended through November 7, 1989 Page 7 of 13



city council, it shall then be in force, but such vote shall not be taken for seven days after itsreturn to the city council. Every such order, ordinance, resolution or vote shall be in force Witis not returned by the mayor within ten days after it was presented to him. This section shallnot apply to budgets submitted under section thirty-two of chapter forty-four of the GeneralLaws or to appropriations by the city council under section thirty-three of said chapter.

SECTION 31. The civil service laws shall not apply to the appointment of the mayor’ssecretaries nor of stenographers, clerks, telephone operators and messengers connected withhis office, and the mayor may remove such appointees without a hearing and without makinga statement of the cause for their removal.

SECTION 32. If a vacancy occurs in the office of mayor before the last six months of theterm of office, the city council shall order an election to fill the same for the unexpired term;and if such vacancy occurs in the office of the mayor in the last six months of said term, thepresident of the city council shall succeed thereto for the unexpired term.

If a vacancy occurs in the position of councilor at large, the city council shall appoint theperson who received the seventh highest vote total for the position of councilor at largeduring the most recent municipal election to fill the vacancy for the unexpired term, if theperson is willing to serve, then to the eighth and so on until a person is appointed.

If a vacancy occurs in the position of ward councilor, the city council shall appoint the personfrom the same ward who received the next highest vote total in the most recent municipalelection to fill the vacancy for the unexpired tent, except that if there was not anothercandidate for the ward councilor position, then the city council, by a majority vote, may electa resident of the same ward to fill the vacancy for the unexpired term.

If the Mayor is absent or unable from any cause temporarily to perform his duties, or if hisoffice is vacant during the first eighteen months of his tenn. his duties shall be performed bythe president of the city council. The person upon whom such duties shall devolve shall becalled “acting mayor”, and he shall possess the powers of mayor only in matters notadmitting of delay. but shall have no power to make permanent appointments.

Should an appointive officer of the city be temporarily unable for any cause to perform hisduties, the mayor or the city council, whichever has the power of original appointment, maymake a temporary appointment of some person to act until the official shall resume his duties.(Section 32 is given as amended by Chap.590 Acts of 1975.)

SECTION 33. It shall be unlawffil for the mayor or for a member of the city council orschool committee or for any officer or employee of the city, directly or indirectly, to make acontract with the city, or to receive any commission, discount, bonus, gift, contribution, orreward from or any share in the profits of any person or corporation, making or performingsuch a contract, unless the mayor, such member, officer or employee, immediately uponlearning of the existence of such contract, or that such a contract is proposed, shall notify inwriting the mayor, city council or school committee of the nature of his interest in suchcontract, and shall abstain from doing any official act on behalf of the city in referencethereto. In case of such interest on the part of an officer whose duty it is to sign the contracton behalf of the city, the contract may be signed by any other officer of the city dulyauthorized thereto by the mayor, or if the mayor has such interest, by the city clerk, provided,

charterfor the City of Gardner, As amended through November 7, 1989 Page 8 of 13



however, that when a contractor with the city is a corporation or a voluntary stockassociation, the ownership of less than five per cent of the stock or shares actually issuedshall not be considered, as involving an interest in the contract within the meaning of thissection, and such ownership shall not affect the validity of the contract unless the owner ofsuch stock or shares is also an officer or agent of the corporation or association, or solicits ortakes part in the making of the contract.

A violation of this section shall render the contract in respect to which such violation occursvoidable at the option of the city. Any person violating the provisions of this section shall bepunished by a fine of not more than one thousand dollars, or by imprisonment for not morethan one year, or by both such fine and imprisonment.

SECTION 34. No contract for construction work or for the purchase of apparatus, supplies ormaterial, whether the same shall be for repairs or original construction, the estimated cost ofwhich amounts to or exceeds four thousand dollars (see compilation of ordinances no. 52, seealso G.L. Chap. 40, sec. 46 as amended), except in cases of special emergency involving thehealth or safety of the people or their property, shall be awarded unless proposals for thesame shall have been invited by advertisements in at least one newspaper published in thecity once a week for at least two consecutive weeks, the last publication to be at least oneweek before the time specified for the opening of said proposals. Such advertisements shallstate the time and place where plans and specifications of the proposed work or supplies maybe had and the time and place for opening the proposals in answer to said advertisements, andshall reserve to the city the right to reject any or all of such proposals. All such proposalsshall be opened in public. No bill or contract shall be split or divided for the purpose ofevading any provision of this act. (Section 34 is given as amended by Chapter 16 of the Actsof 1934), and again amended by Chapter 191 of the Acts of 1960, sec. I).

SECTION 35. All contracts made by any department, board or commission in which theamount involved is one thousand dollars or more shall be in writing, and no such contractshall be deemed to have been made or executed until the approval of the mayor and of thedepartment or board making the contract is affixed thereto. Any contract made as aforesaidmay be required to be accompanied by a bond with sureties satisfactory to the board ofofficials having the matter in charge, or by a deposit of money, certified check or othersecurity conditioned on the faithfhl performance thereof, and such bonds or other securitiesshall bc deposited with the city treasurer until the contract has in all respects been carried out;and no such contract shall be altered except by a written agreement of the contractor, thesureties on his bond, and the officer, deparunent or board making the contract, with theapproval of the mayor affixed thereto. (Section 35 is given as amended by Chapter 191 of theActs of 1960, section 2.)

SECTION 36. At the request of any department, the city council may, with the approval ofthe mayor, acquire by purchase, or take by eminent domain under chapter seventy-nine of theGeneral Laws in the name of the city, for any municipal purpose, any land or interest thereinwithin the limits of the city not already appropriated to public use. Whenever the priceproposed to be paid for land for any municipal purpose is more than twenty-five per centhigher than its average assessed valuation during the previous three years, said land shall notbe purchase, but shall be taken by eminent domain and paid for in the manner provided forthe payment of damages for land taken under said chapter seventy-nine. The city councilshall estimate the damages, if any, sustained by persons in their property by such taking, and

Charterfor the City of Gardner, As amended through November 7, 1989 Page 9 of 13



shall state the share of each separately. No land shall be taken until an appropriation by loanor otherwise for the general purposes. For which land is needed shall have been made by thecity council by a two thirds vote of all its members and approved by the mayor; nor shall aprice be paid in excess of said estimated damages unless a larger sum is awarded by a courtof competent jurisdiction.

SECTION 37. The school committee shall consist of the mayor, who shall be chairman, andsix persons who shall be elected at large from the registered voters of the city. At the biennialmunicipal election to be held in the year nineteen hundred and ninety-one thcre shall beelected three persons to serve for two years and three persons to serve for four years. At eachbiennial election thcreafler there shall be elccted three persons to serve for the term of fouryears. (‘Section 37 is given as amended by Chapter 290 of the Acts of 1989, section If NOTE:For provisions with respect to election of members to and powers and duties of theMontachusett Regional Vocational Technical School District Committee, see Chapter 560 ofthe Acts of 1964 and Chapter 543 of the Acts of 1965).

SECTION 38. The school committee shall elect annually a superintendent of schools exceptas provided in section forty-one of chapter seventy-one of the General Laws, and may, underthe laws regulating the civil service, appoint, suspend or remove such subordinate officers orassistants, including janitors of school buildings as it may deem necessary for the properdischarge of its duties and the conduct of its business; it shall define their terms of serviceand their duties, and shall fix their compensation. No member of the school committee,except the mayor, shall during the term for which he is elected, hold any other office orposition the salary or compensation for which is payable out of the city treasury. Thecommittee shall organize annually on Tuesday following the first Monday in January, andshall elect one of its members as vice-chairman, whose duty it shall be to preside at allmeetings of the committee at which the mayor is not present.

SECTION 39. The school committee, in addition to the powers and duties pertaining by lawto school committees, shall have power to provide, when they are necessary, temporaryaccommodations for school purposes, and shall have the control of all school buildings andof the wounds connected therewith, and the power to make all repairs, the expenditures forwhich are made from the regular appropriation for the school department, except as isotherwise provided herein.

SECTION 40. No site for a school building shall be acquired by the city unless approval ofthe site by the school committee is first obtained. No plans for the construction or alterationof a school building shall be accepted and no work shall be begun on the construction oralteration of a school building, unless the approval of the school committee and the mayortherefore is first obtained; but such approval shall not be required for the making of ordinaryrepairs.

SECTION 41. The school committee shall make all reasonable rules and regulations for tilemanagement of the public schools of the city and for conducting the business of thecommittee, provided that such rules are not inconsistent with any laws of the commonwealth.
SECTION 42. All meetings of the school committee shall be open to the public, except thatwhen requested by not less than four members of the committee, any particular meeting shall

charterfor Else city of Gardner, As amended through November 7, 1989 Page 10 of 13



be private. The vote on any particular measure shall be by the call of yeas and nays, when itis so requested by not less than two members of the committee.

SECTION 43. If a vacancy occurs in the school committee by failure to elect, or otherwise,the city council and the remaining members of the school committee shall meet in jointconvention and elect a suitable person to fill the vacancy until the next regular city election.The mayor, if present, shall preside at the convention.

SECTION 44. A petition meeting the requirements hereinafter specified and requesting thecity council to pass an ordinance, resoktion, order or vote, except an order granted under theprovisions of chapter on hundred and sixty-four and one hundred and sixty-six of the GeneralLaws or requesting the school committee to pass a resolution, order or vote , all of these fourterms being hereinafier included in the term “measure”, therein set forth or designated, shallbe termed an initiative petition, and shall be acted upon as hereinafter provided.
SECTION 45. Signatures to initiative petitions need not be on all one paper. All such paperspertaining to any one measure shall be fastened together, and shall be filed in the office of thecity clerk as one instrument, with the endorsement thereon of the names and addresses ofthree persons designated as filing the same. With each signature to said petition shall bestated the place of residence ofthe signer, giving the street and number. if any.
Within five days after the filing of said petition the registrars of voters shall ascertain by whatnumber of registered voters the petition is signed, and what percentage that number is of thetotal number of registered voters, and shall attach thereto their certificate showing the resultof such examination.

The city clerk shall forthwith transmit the said certificate with the said petition to the citycouncil or to the school committee, accordingly as the petition is addressed, and at the sametime shall send a copy of said certificate to one or more of the persons designated on thepetition as filing Ge same.

SECTION 46. If an initiative petition be signed by registered voters equal in number, exceptas otherwise provided in this act, to at least twenty per cent of the whole number of registeredvoters, the city council or the school committee shall, within twenty days after the date of thecertificate of the registrars of voters that the petition has been signed by the requiredpercentage of registered voters, either —

I. Pass said measure without alteration, subject to the referendum vote provided by this act,or

2. The city council shall call a special election to be held on a Tuesday fixed by it not lessthan thirty nor more than forty-five days after the date of the certificate hereinbeforementioned, and shall submit the proposed measure without alteration to a vote of theregistered voters of the city at that election, provided, however that if any regular cityelection is otherwise to occur within ninety days after the date of said certificate, the citycouncil may, at its discretion, omit calling the special election and submit the proposedmeasure to the voters at such other election.

Charterfor the City of Gardner, As amended through November 7, 1989 Page 11 of 13



SECTION 47. If an initiative petition be signed by registered voters equal in number to atleast eight per cent but less than twenty per cent of the total number of registered voters, andsaid measure be not passed without alteration within twenty days by the city council or theschool committee, as provided in the preceding section, then such proposed measure, withoutalteration, shall he submitted by the city council to a vote of the registered voters of the cityat the next regular city election.

SECTION 48. If within twenty days after the final passage of any measure, other than a loanorder (however, see Chapter 202 of the Acts of 1941 and G.L. Chapter 44, section 8A withrespect to orders authorizing the issue of bonds, notes or certificates of indebtednesswithholding effectiveness for a period of twenty days from day of order and allowingopportunity for initiative petition signed by a minimum of twelve per cent of the registeredvoters of the City of Gardner), by the city council or by the school committee, a petitionsigned by registered voters of the city, equal in number to at least twelve per cent of the totalnumber of registered voters, be presented to the city council or to the school committee, asthe ease may be, protesting against such measure or any part thereof taking effect, the sameshall thereupon and thereby be suspended from taking effect; and the city council or theschool committee, as the case may be, shall immediately reconsider such measure or partthereof; and if such measure of part thereof be not entirely annulled, repealed or rescinded.the city council shall submit the same, by the method herein provided, to a vote of thequalified voters of the city, either at the next regular city election, or at a special electionwhich may, in its discretion, be calLed for the purpose, and such measure or pad thereof shallforthwith become nulL and void unless a majority of the qualified voters voting on the same atsuch election shall vote in favor thereof. The petition provided for by this section shall betermed a referendum petition.

The procedure in respect to the referendum petition shall be the same as that provided bysection forty-five of this act, except that the words “measure or part thereof protestedagainst” shall for this purpose be understood to replace the word “measure” in that sectionwherever it may occur, and that the word “referendum” shall be understood to replace theword “initiative” in that section. (Section 48 is given as amended by Chapter 65 of the Actsof 1935).

SECTION 49. The city council may of its own motion, and shall upon request of the schoolcommittee in case of a measure originating with that committee and pertaining to the affairsunder its administration, submit to a vote of the registered voters of the city for adoption orrejection at a regular or special city election any proposed measure, or a proposition for theannulment, repeal or amendment of any measure, in the same manner and with the sameforce and effect as are hereby provided for submission on petition.

SECTION 50. If two or more proposed measures passed at the same election containconflicting provisions, that one of said measures which received the largest number ofaffirmative votes shall take effect and the other shall be void.

SECTION 51. The ballots used in voting upon such proposed measure shall state the natureof the measure in terms sufficient to show the substance thereof. No measure shall go intoeffect unless it receives the affirmative votes of at least a third of the whole number ofregistered voters.

C/garter for the cliv of Gardner, As amended through November 7, 1989 Page 12 of 13



SECTION 52. All official bonds, recognizances. obligations, contracts and all otherinstruments entered into or executed by or to the town of Gardner before the organization ofthe city government under this act and all taxes, special assessments; lines, penalties.forfeitures incurred or imposed, due or owing to the town, shall be enforced and collected,and all writs, prosecutions, actions and causes of action, except as hcrcin otherwise provided,shall continue without abatement and remain unaffected by this act; and no legal act done byor in favor of the town shall be rendered invalid by the acceptance of this act.

All laws, by-laws, rules and regulations, general or special relating to the town of Gardner, inforce at the time when this act takes ftll effect, shall until altered, amended or repealed,continue in force in the city of Gardner, so far as the same are not inconsistent herewith.
SECTION 53. This act shall be submitted to the voters of the town of Gardner at the annualtown election in March in the year nineteen hundred and twenty-two for their acceptance. Atsuch election the polls shall be open not less than eight hours; and the vote shall be taken byballot, in accordance with the provisions of the General Laws so far as the same shall beapplicable, and nol inconsistent herewith, in answer to the following question which shall beplaced upon the official ballot used for the election of town officers: “Shall an act passed bythe general court in the year nineteen hundred and twenty-one, entitled ‘An Act toincorporate the City of Gardner’, be accepted?” If a majority of the voters present and votingthereon vote to accept this act then the same shall take effect; but not otherwise. (ApprovedMarch 15, 1921).

Chapter 119 of the Acts of 1921 accepted by the voters of Gardner March 6, 1922.

Charterfor the City of Gardner, As amended through November 7, 1989 Page 13 of 13



V
)N

)
C

o
&

Q
N

)
O

Q
N

)
CD L

n
r
t
1
W



City of Gardner — Executive Department
Mayor Michael J. Nicholson

,0

September 27, 2022

Hon. Elizabeth J. Kazinskas, Council President
And City Councilors

Gardner City Hall, Rm 121
95 Pleasant St
Gardner, MA 01440

RE: Follow Up Regarding hem #19 781: An Act Relative to Establishing a Special Act CharterDrafting Committee

Dear Madam President and Councilors,

At the City Council Meeting of September 7,2022, the question was raised as to what potentialchanges the Administration though could be looked into and updated in the existing charter.
I will admit, I had avoided submitting my proposed thoughts on the matter, as I believe that to bethe responsibility of the charter review committee themselves, and I did not want to disrespect ordisregard the process that is statutorily outlined in the General Laws for this process.
With that said, I do respect the opinion that the question should be whether there is merit increating a committee to review the Charter or not.

As such, I have outlined the issues and updates that I believe should be reviewed in the CityCharter as it exists today.

However, I feel the need to reiterate that the question currently before the City Council iswhether or not to create the committee to review the charter, and NOT on the items I have listedbelow. The committee if created may, in the end, look at any, all, none, or other sections of theCharter in their process, and the items listed below are just the items I believe meritconsideration.

Furthermore, the question was asked as to the number of members of the Committee. The initialproposal only had the minimum number required for a committee as a way to begin theconversation. I do believe that adding additional members appointed by the City Council or theCouncil President would allow for a more thorough, vetted, and collaborative process. However,I would caution that a committee too large in size may also hinder the work and quality of thefinal product.

Respectfully Submitted,

Michael J. Nic olson
Mayor, City of Gardner



City Charter Review Proposals by Administration, 9/2772022

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS FOR
CONSIDERATION BY CHARTER REVIEW

COMMITTEE
In the event that the Special Act Charter Drafting Committee is created by vote of the CityCouncil, the Administration pians to submit the following suggestions to the Committee for theirreview.

Additions are coded in ureen

Deletions are coded in red in sttike-pi4at

Proposed Amendment 1:

Current Section:

SECTION 4. There shall be a mayor, elected by and from the qualified voters of the city, who shallbe the chief executive officer of the city. He shall hold office for the term of two years from the firstMonday in January following his election and until his successor is elected and qualified.

Proposed Amendment:

SECTION 4. There shall be a mayor, elected by and from the qualified voters of the city, who shallbe the chief executive officer of the city. He shall hold office for the term of two years from the firstMonday in January following his election and until his successor is elected and qualified. In the eventthat first Monday falls on a legal holiday. the term shall begin on the following day, and shallcontinue until a successor has been qualified.

Reasoniniz:

The current Charter requires that the current terms of office for all City elected officials begin on thefirst Monday in January regardless of whether the first Monday in January is New Years Day or not.This has lead to times where City Hall has had to been open on New Years Day so that the oath ofoffice could be administered by the City Clerk, and leaves times when some elected officials havehad to take their oaths of office at different times due to family commitments on the holiday.

This would fix that by moving the date to the day after the holiday, similar to other portions of theCharter, such as the schedule of meetings for the City Council.

This proposed change was originally included in the proposal submitted by the 2015 Charter ReviewCommittee.

Proposed Amendment 2:

Current Section:

Page! of 19***Subject to review by Charter Review Committee. City Council, and Ballot Question



City Charter Review Proposals by Administration, 9/27/2022

SECTION 5. The Legislative powers of the city shall be vested in a city council. The city councilshall be composed of not less than eleven members, of whom one shall be elected from each ward byand from the qualified voters of that ward, and the remaining members shall be elected at large byand from the qualified voters of the city. One of its members shall be elected annually by the councilas its president. (At the first regular city election after acceptance of this act the councilors electedfrom each ward shall serve for one year and those elected at large for two years, from the firstMonday in January following their election and until their successors are elected and qualified.(Deleted by Ch. 332 of the Acts of 1936). At each regular city election thereafter, their respectivesuccessors shall be elected to serve for two years. If the number of wards shall be increased! asprovided in section two, the number of councilors shall also be increased, so that the number ofcouncilors elected at large shall always exceed by one the number elected by wards.

Proposed Changes:

SECTION 5. TI IL CITY COUNCIL
A) The Legislative powers of the city shall be vested in a city council.B) The city council shall be composed of not less than eleven members, of whom one shall beelected from each ward by and from the qualified voters of that ward, and the remainingmembers shall be elected at large by and from the qualified voters of the city.C) One of its members shall be elected aenu&1y by the council as its president.D) (At the first regular city election after acceptance of this act the councilors clected from eachward shall serve for one year and thosc elected at large for two years, from the first Mondayin January following their election and until thrir .nrrenrq r- n.

-(Dclctcd by Ch. 332 of the Acts of 1936).
E) At each regular city election thcreaftcr, their respective successors city coundilors shall beelected to serve for two years. If the number of wards shall be increased, as provided insection two, the number ofcouncilors shall also be increased, so that the number ofcouncilors elected at large shall always exceed by one the number elected by wards.

Reasoning:

Formatting change for ease of access and understanding of information.

c) This change would remove the term of office for the Council President from the City Charter,but the Rules of the City Council would still apply to the President’s election. Whereas theCharter is silent on electing a president after the year has started, in the event of a resignation aspresident or loss of confidence by the Council, but the Rules of the City Council due addressthose concerns, I believe the procedures for electing the president are more suited for the Rulesof the Council rather than the Charter.

D and E) Subsection D applies to the 1925 City election and this section was deleted from theCity Charter by Chapter 332 of the Acts of 1936 but never removed from the document. TheAmendment to subsection E is made to coincide with the removal of subsection D.

PROPOSED AMENDMENT 3:

Current Section:

Page 2 of 19***Subject to review by Charter Review Committee, City Council, and Ballot Question



City Charter Review Proposals by Administration, 9/27/2022

SECTION 6. All heads of departments and members of municipal boards, except the schoolcommittee, the city clerk, city treasurer, city auditor and city collector of taxes, officers whoseelection is provided for by this act and officials appointed by the governor, shall be appointed by themayor, subject to confirmation by the city council; but the city solicitor shall be appointed by themayor, without confirmation by the city council.

Proposed Amendment:

SECTION 6. APPOINTMENTS
a) All heads of departments and members of municipal boards, except the school committee, thecity clerk, city treasurer, city auditor and city collector of taxes, officers whose election isprovided for by this act and officials appointed by the governor, shall be appointed by themayor, subject to confirmation by the city council;
b) but thc city solicitor All members of the Law Department shall be appointed by the mayor,without confirmation by the city council.

Reasoning:

Formatting change for ease of access and understanding to information.

B) Places the Assistant City Solicitor position in the same appointment process as the CitySolicitor, in keeping with the current spirit of the Charter of the Law Department reportingdirectly to the Mayor.

PROPOSED AMENDMENT 4:

Current Section:

SECTION 9. The city clerk, city treasurer, city auditor and city collector of taxes shall be elected bythe city council for terms of three years and may be removed at any time by a two- thirds vote of thecity council.

Proposed Amendment:

SECTION 9. The city clerk, city treasurer, city auditor and city collector of taxes shall be elected bythe city council for terms of three years and may be removed at any time by a two- thirds vote of thecity council. The person so removed shall 15 receive a copy oCthe reasons (hr removal and may. ifdesired, to contest the same before 16 the city council and may be represented by counsel at tIehearing.

Reasoning:

This amendment was proposed in the amendment to the City Charter proposed by Ihe City Council in2016.

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS:

Page 3 of 19***Subject to review by Charter Review Committee, City Council. and Ballot Question



City Charter Review Proposals by Administration, 9/27/2022

Current Section:

SECTION II. The mayor shall receive for this services such salary as the city council by ordinanceshall determine and he shall receive no other compensation from the city. His salary shall not beincreased or diminished during the term for which he is elected.

The council may, by a two thirds vote of all its members, taken by a call of the yeas and nays,establish a salary for its members. Such salary may be reduced but no increase therein shall be madeto take effect during the year in which the increase is voted. (As amended by Chapter 184 of theActs of 1939 and Compilation of City Ordinance No. 40.)

Proposed Amendment:

SECTION II. The mayor shall receive for this their services such salary as the city council byordinance passed by majority vote shall determine and he shall receive no other compensation fromthe city. His salary shall not be increased or diminished during the term for which he is elected.
The council may. by majority vote of all its members, taken by a call of the yeas and nays, establisha salary for its members. Such salary may be reduced but no increase therein shall be made to takeeffect during the year in which the increase is voted. (As umended by Chaptcr 181 of the Acts of1939 and Compilation of City Ordinancc No. 40.)

Reasoning:

The first proposal — “this services” to “their services” — appears to have been a typographicalerror.

The vote threshold is a suggestion that follows what other cities have adopted.

Lastly, removing the statutory reference that was adopted in 1939

PROPOSED AMENDMENT 6:

Current Section:

SECTION 12. On the fourth Tuesday preceding every regular and special city election at which anyofficer mentioned in this act is to be elected, there shall be held a preliminary election for the purposeof nominating candidates for such offices as, under the provisions of this act, are to be filled at suchelection. Voters qualified to vote at a regular city election shall be qualified to vote at a preliminaryelection. No special election for mayor or any officer shall be held after the expiration of forty daysfrom the calling of the preliminary election. (See also G.L. Chap. 54 sec. lO3A as amended).
Proposed Amendment:

SECTION 12. On the feu#h seventh Tuesday preceding every regular and special city election atwhich any officer mentioned in this act is to be elected, there shall be held a preliminary election forthe purpose of nominating candidates for such offices as, under the provisions of this act, are to befilled at such election. Voters qualified to vote at a regular city election shall be qualified to vote at a

Page 4 of 19***Subject to review by Charter Review Committee, City Council, and Ballot Question



City Charter Review Proposals by Administration, 9/27/2022

preliminary election. No special election for mayor or any officer shall be held after the expiration offorty days from the calling of the preliminary election. fSee-&se-G#-Ghupr-54-seer4G3A—asamended).

Reasoning:

This amendment was proposed in the amendment to the City Charter proposed by the City Council in2016.

I would also agree with this due to all of the statutory changes regarding elections that have beenadopted by the legislature in the last three years.

PROPOSED AMENDMENT 7:

Current Section:

SECTION 23. On the first Monday in January the mayor-elect and the councilors-elect shall meetand be sworn to the faithful discharge of their duties. The oath may be administered by the city clerkor by any justice of the peace, and a certificate that the oath has been taken shall be entered on thejournal of the city council. At any meeting thereafter the oath may be administered, in the presence ofthe city council, to the mayor, or to any councilor absent from the meeting on the first Monday inJanuary.

Proposed Amendment:

SECTION 23: On the first Monday in January or on the following day whenever said firstMonday shall also be New Year’s Day, the mayor-elect and the councilors-elect shall meet andbe sworn to the faithful discharge of their duties. The oath may be administered by the city clerkor by any justice of the peace, and a certificate that the oath has been taken shall be entered onthe journal of the city council. At any meeting no more than sixty (60) days thereafter the oathmay be administered, in the presence of the city council, to any councilor absent from themeeting on the first Monday in January. The Council may, upon a two-thirds vote extend theperiod of time in which a councilor-elect has to take the oath of office up to ninety (90)additional days. If the mayor-elect fails to take the office as set forth herein, the office of Mayorshall be filled pursuant to Section 32. If the mayor-elect continues in his or her failure to take theoath of office for a period of six (6) months after the first Monday in January, the office shall bedeemed vacant and thereafter filled in accordance with Section 32.

Reasoning:

This amendment was proposed in the amendment to the City Charter proposed by the City Council in2016.

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS:

Current Section:

Page 5 of 19***Subject to review by Charter Review Committee, City Council, and Ballot Question



City Charter Review Proposals by Administration, 9/27/2022

SECTION 25. The city council may at any time request from the mayor specific information uponany municipal mailer within its jurisdiction, and may request his presence to answerwritten questions relating thereto at a meeting to be held not earlier than one week after the date ofthe receipt by the mayor of said questions. The mayor shall personally, or through a head of adepartment or a member of a board, attend such meeting and publicly answer all such questions.The person so attending shall not be obliged to answer questions relating to any other matter. Themayor at any time may attend and address the city council in person, or through the head of adepartment or a member of a board, upon any subject. The council, or any committee thereof dulyauthorized by the council so to do, may investigate the financial transactions of any office ordepartment of the city government, and the official acts and conduct of any official, and, by similarinvestigations, may secure information upon any matter.

Proposed Amendment:

SECTION 25. The city council may. by majority vote, at any time request from the mayor specificinformation upon any municipal matter within its jurisdiction, and may request his presence toanswer written questions relating thereto at a meeting to be held not earlier than one week after thedate of the receipt by the mayor of said questions. The mayor shall personally, or through a head ofa department or a member of a board, attend such meeting and publicly answer all such questions.The person so attending shall not be obliged to answer questions relating to any other matter. Themayor at any time may attend and address the city council in person, or through the head of adepartment or a member of a board, upon any subject. The council, or any committee thereof dulyauthorized by the council so to do, may investigate the financial transactions of any office ordepartment of the city government, and the official acts and conduct of any official, and, by similarinvestigations, may secure information upon any matter.

Reasoning:

The proposed amendment seeks to clarify the procedure listed in Section 25 for the City Councilissuing a specific information request of the Executive.

PROPOSED AMENDMENT 9:

Current Section:

SECTION 26. No ordinance shall be passed finally on the date on which it is introduced, except incases of special emergency involving the health or safety of the people or their property.

No ordinance shall be regarded as an emergency measure unless the emergency is defined anddeclared in a preamble thereto separately voted on and receiving the affirmative vote of two thirdsof the members of the city council.

No ordinance making a grant, renewal or extension, whatever its kind or nature, of any franchise orspecial privilege shall be passed as an emergency measure, and except as provided in sectionsseventy and seventy-one of chapter one hundred and sixty-four of the General Laws and in chapterone hundred and sixty-six thereof, no such grant, renewal or extension shall be made otherwise thenby ordinance.

Page 6 of 19***Subject to review by Charter Review Committee, City Council, and Ballot Question



City Charter Review Proposals by Administration, 9/27/2022

Proposed Amendment:

SECTION 26. No ordinance shall be passed finally on the date on which it is introduced, except incases of special emergency4nseli4+4he-he&th-ov-su4èty-ef4he-peeple-eetheiv-propetty.

No ordinance shall be regarded as an emergency measure unless the emergency is defined anddeclared in a preamble thereto separately voted on and receiving the affirmative vote of two thirdsof the members of the city council.

No ordinance making a grant, renewal or extension, whatever its kind or nature, of any franchise orspecial privilege shall be passed as an emergency measure, and except as provided in sectionsseventy and seventy-one of chapter one hundred and sixty-four of the General Laws and in chapterone hundred and sixty-six thereof, no such grant, renewal or extension shall be made otherwise thenby ordinance.

Reasoning:

Allowing greater flexibility in what can be deemed an emergency, since the City Council must voteto approve emergency designation by two-thirds vote anyway.

PROPOSED AMENDMENT 10:

Current Section:

SECTION 29. Every proposed ordinance, except emergency measures, as hereinbefore defined,shall at least ten days before its final passage, be published in full in at least one newspaper of thecity, and in any additional manner that may be provided by ordinance.

After final passage, it shall, in the same manner as before, again be published once, as amended andcompleted, except in the case of an emergency ordinance which may be passed as hereinbeforeprovided and which shall take effect on its passage, and shall so be published at the earliestpracticable moment. (Section 29 is given as amended by Chapter 65 of the Acts of 1935.)
Proposed Amendment:

SECTION 29. Every proposed ordinance, except emergency measures, as hereinbefore defined,shall at least ten days before its final passage, be published in full in sumnian in at least onenewspaper of the city, and in any additional manner that may be provided by ordinance.

After final passage, it shall, in the same manner as before, again be published once, as amended andcompleted, in summary, except in the case of an emergency ordinance which may be passed ashereinbefore provided and which shall take effect on its passage, and shall so be published at theearliest practicable moment. (Scction 29 is givcn as amcndcd by Chapter 65 ofthe Acts of 1935.)
Reasoning:

Page 7 of 19***subject to review by Charter Review Committee, City Council, and Ballot Question



City Charter Review Proposals by Administration, 9/27/2022

This amendment was originally suggested by the City Clerk’s Office during the 2016 CityCharter review as a means to save on publication costs for the publications of ordinances,particularly those of longer length- like the annual compensation schedule ordinance.

PROPOSED AMENDMENT 11:

Current Section:

SECTION 30. Every order, ordinance, resolution and vote relative to the affairs of the city,adopted or passed by the city council, shall be presented to the mayor for his approval. If heapproves it he shall sign it; if he disapproves it he shall return it, with his objections in writing, tothe city council, which shall enter his objections at large on its records, and again consider it. Ifthe city council, notwithstanding such disapproval of the mayor, shall again pass such order,ordinance, resolution or vote by a two thirds vote of all the members of the city council, it shallthen be in force, but such vote shall not be taken for seven days after its return to the city council.Every such order, ordinance, resolution or vote shall be in force if it is not returned by the mayorwithin ten days after it was presented to him. This section shall not apply to budgets submittedunder section thirty-two of chapter forty-four of the General Laws or to appropriations by thecity council under section thirty-three of said chapter.

Proposed Amendment:

SECTION 30. Every order, ordinance, resolution and vote relative to the affairs of the city,adopted or passed by the city council, shall be presented to the mayor for his approval. If heapproves it he shall sign it; if he disapproves it he shall return it, with his objections in writing, tothe city council, which shall enter his objections at large on its records, and again consider it. Themayor may also submit proposed amendments and revisions to measures presented for signatureby the City Council. which the City Council may consider to amend the measure and send it hackto the Mayor lhr signature. If the city council, notwithstanding such disapproval of the mayor,shall again pass such order, ordinance, resolution or vote unamended as originally presented by atwo thirds vote of all the members of the city council, it shall then be in force, but such vote shallnot be taken for seven days after its return to the city council. Every such order, ordinance,resolution or vote shall be in force if it is not returned by the mayor within ten days after it waspresented to him. This section shall not apply to budgets submitted under section thirty two ofchapter forty four of the Gencral Laws or to appropriations by the city council under sectionthty—thfee—ef-5ft14—ehup+ef—Pursuant to the provisions oithe General Laws.

Reasoning:

This is a change that some communities in the Commonwealth have begun to adopt followingthe procedures of the Executive and Legislature at the Commonwealth level.

This gives all proposed measures that have been voted on by the City Council one final chancefor consideration and collaboration between the branches of government for compromise ratherthan the current system ofjust adoption, “veto,” or “veto overrides” (disapproval and vote overdisapproval).

PageS ofl9***subject to review by Charter Review Committee, City Council, and Ballot Question



City Charter Review Proposals by Administration, 9/27/2022

By doing so, it allows for greater deliberation in order to truly get the best final result for theCity’s residents.

The final amendment removes the references to specific sections of the General Laws of theCommonwealth. as those could change with any amendments adopted by the General Court.
PROPOSED AMENDMENT 12:

Current Section:

SECTION 31. The civil service laws shall not apply to the appointment of the mayor’s secretariesnor of stenographers, clerks, telephone operators and messengers connected with his office, and themayor may remove such appointees without a hearing and without making a statement of the causefor their removal.

Proposed Amendment:

SECTION 31. The civil service laws shall not apply to the appointment of any position within themayor’s office, and the mayor may remove such appointees without a hearing and without making astatement of the cause for their removal.

Reasoning:

This amendment was proposed in the amendment to the City Charter proposed by the City Council in2016.

PROPOSED AMENDMENT 13:

Current Section:

SECTION 32. If a vacancy occurs in the office of mayor before the last six months of the term ofoffice, the city council shall order an election to fill the same for the unexpired term; and if suchvacancy occurs in the office of the mayor in the last six months of said term, the president of thecity council shall succeed thereto for the unexpired term.

If a vacancy occurs in the position of councilor at large, the city council shall appoint the personwho received the seventh highest vote total for the position of councilor at large during the mostrecent municipal election to fill the vacancy for the unexpired term, if the person is willing to serve,then to the eighth and so on until a person is appointed.

If a vacancy occurs in the position of ward councilor, the city council shall appoint the person fromthe same ward who received the next highest vote total in the most recent municipal election to fillthe vacancy for the unexpired term, except that if there was not another candidate for the wardcouncilor position, then the city council, by a majority vote, may elect a resident of the same wardto fill the vacancy for the unexpired term.

Page 9 of 19***subject to review by Charter Review Committee, City Council, and Ballot Question



City Charter Review Proposals by Administration, 9/27/2022

lfthe Mayor is absent or unable from any cause temporarily to perform his duties, or if his office isvacant during the first eighteen months of his term, his duties shall be performed by the president ofthe city council. The person upon whom such duties shall devolve shall be called “acting mayor”,and he shall possess the powers of mayor only in matters not admitting of delay, but shall have nopower to make permanent appointments.

Should an appointive officer of the city be temporarily unable for any cause to perform his duties,the mayor or the city council, whichever has the power of original appointment, may make atemporary appointment of some person to act until the official shall resume his duties. (Section 32is given as amended by Chap.590 Acts of 1975.)

Proposed Amendment:

SECTION 32. If a vacancy occurs in the office of mayor before the last six twelve months of theterm of office, the city council shall order an election to fill the same for the unexpired term; and ifsuch vacancy occurs in the office of the mayor in the last six twelve months of said term, thepresident of the city council shall succeed thereto for the unexpired term.

If a vacancy occurs in the position of councilor at large, the city council by a malority vote, shallelect a resident of the City at large to the vacancy for the unexpired term. appeint—the-pereewwhereceived the seventh highest vote total for thc position of councilor at largc during the most rcecntmunicipal election to fill the vacancy for the unexpired term, if the person is willing to scn’e, thento the cighth and so on until a person is appointed.

If a vacancy occurs in the position of ward councilor, the city council shall appeiM4he-persefi-fremthe same ward who received the next highest vote total in the most recent municipal election to fillthz \;;; 4f—th ;;:z:.ifed—te:;;;, :eept-4hat—-if4here- -.1;: :;et—aijethec--eandidate—fee-the—wardcouncilor position, then the city council, by a majority vote, may shall elect a resident of the sameward to fill the vacancy for the unexpired term.

If the Mayor is absent or unable from any cause temporarily to perform his duties, or if his office isvacant during the first eighteen twelve months of his term, his duties shall be performed by thepresident of the city council. The person upon whom such duties shall devolve shall be called “actingmayor”, and he shall possess the powers of mayor only in matters not admitting of de1ay, but shallhave no power to make permanent appointments or removal from city service unless the disabilityor absence of the mayor shall extend beyond sixty (60) days nor shall an acting mawr approve ordisapprove of any measure adopted by the city council unless the time within which the mayor mustact would expire before the return of the mayor. In the event that the ollice of Mayor shall bevacated due to resignation or death prior to the end ofthe term, the acting mayor shall be entitledto the compensation as city council president in addition to ninety—percent (90%) the currentrate of compensation of the mayor.

Should an appointive officer of the city be temporarily unable for any cause to perform his duties,the mayor or the city council, whichever has the power of original appointment, may make atemporary appointment of some person to act until the official shall resume his duties. Eseetiew3ais given as amended by Chap.590 Acts of 1975.)

Reasoning:

Page 10 of 19***subject to review by Charter Review Committee, City Council, and Ballot Question



City Charter Review Proposals by Administration, 9/27/2022

Mayoral Special Election and Acting Mayor Timelinc:

Elections are quite costly for the City and the requirements that have recently been put onelections by recent changes to the General Laws have only expanded the requirements forelections.

If someone holding the position of Mayor were to resign on January 1 in an odd numbered year,the earliest a preliminary election could be called would likely be in Mid-March, around thesame time that nomination papers would be issued by the City Clerk’s Office for the regular cityelection that same year- and that’s with a January Pt resignation. The timeline only pushes closeras the year progresses.

Under the current system, between preliminary elections and final elections, there could be four(4) elections within the same calendar year for the same position, each with a cost ofapproximately $15,000.

This proposed amendment allows the Acting Mayor to serve for the last year of the term to letthe final decision be made by the voters during the regularly scheduled biennial City election.This would help keep elections consistent for the voters, as historical data in the City of Gardnershows that more voters turn out in regularly scheduled elections than in special elections, andhelp keep costs and excess procedures down for the City during these periods.
Powers of/he Acting Mayor:

A lot has changed in how the City operates and functions since this section of the City Charterwas drafted a century ago.

The phrase “in matters not admitting of delay,” really constricts City operations that requiremayoral consent and approval when there is a period with an Acting Mayor. Whether the currenttimeline changes or slays the same, only being able to conduct “matters not admitting of delay,”can cause confusion as to what can and cannot be done and can hinder the City’s progress.
The proposed amendment gives the Acting Mayor the powers of Mayor except in specific caseswith procedures on how to proceed when those exceptions arise.

While most periods with an acting mayor are anomalies, the purpose of the City Charter is toprotect the City when anomalies arise and to ensure that the City has the resources and toolsnecessary to care and serve the City’s residents.

Compensation ofthe Acting Mayor:

This minors, in spirit, the legislation that the City proposed to the Legislature as a home rulepetition when the City had an acting mayor in the spring of 2020.

Page 11 of 19***Subject to review by Charter Review Committee, City Council, and Ballot Question



City Charter Review Proposals by Administration, 9/27/2022

Under the current system, the Council President is only entitled to the compensation they receiveas Council President, even if they are serving in an Acting Mayor capacity. As such, it reallylimits whether someone is able to truly serve the City with the attention that the position ofmayor deserves in providing executive functions and oversight, unless a person is eitherunemployed or retired.

Procedureforfilling a vacancy in the City ‘ouncil:

The current charter is silent on how to fill a vacancy in the position of City Councilor At-Large ifthere is no 71h candidate.

The proposed amendments unifies the methods of filling vacancies that exist in the City Counciland School Committee.

Removal ofstatzaory Reference

Removing statutory reference and amendment note

PROPOSED AMENDMENT 14:

Current Section:

SECTION 33. It shall be unlawful for the mayor or for a member of the city council or schoolcommittee or for any officer or employee of the city, directly or indirectly, to make a contract withthe city, or to receive any commission, discount, bonus, gift, contribution, or reward from or anyshare in the profits of any person or corporation, making or performing such a contract, unless themayor, such member, officer or employee, immediately upon learning of the existence of suchcontract, or that such a contract is proposed, shall noti& in writing the mayor, city council or schoolcommittee of the nature of his interest in such contract, and shall abstain from doing any official acton behalf of the city in reference thereto. In case of such interest on the part of an officer whose dutyit is to sign the contract on behalf of the city, the contract may be signed by any other officer of thecity duly authorized thereto by the mayor, or if the mayor has such interest, by the city clerk,provided,

however, that when a contractor with the city is a corporation or a voluntary stock association, theownership of less than five per cent of the stock or shares actually issued shall not be considered, asinvolving an interest in the contract within the meaning of this section, and such ownership shall notaffect the validity of the contract unless the owner of such stock or shares is also an officer or agentof the corporation or association, or solicits or takes part in the making of the contract.
A violation of this section shall render the contract in respect to which such violation occurs voidableat the option of the city. Any person violating the provisions of this section shall be punished by afine of not more than one thousand dollars, or by imprisonment for not more than one year, or byboth such fine and imprisonment.

Proposed Amendment:

Page 12 of 19***Subject to review by Charter Review Committee, City Council, and Ballot Question



City Charter Review Proposals by Administration, 9/27/2022

Deletion of Section in its entirety

Reasoning:

This amendment was proposed in the amendment to the City Charter proposed by the City Council in2016.

This section currently conflicts with the General Laws procurement requirements.

PROPOSED AMENDMENT 15:

Current Section:

SECTION 34. No contract for construction work or for the purchase of apparatus, supplies ormaterial, whether the same shall be for repairs or original construction, the estimated cost of whichamounts to or exceeds four thousand dollars (see compilation of ordinances no. 52, see also G.L.Chap. 40, sec. 4G as amended), except in cases of special emergency involving the health or safety ofthe people or their property, shall be awarded unless proposals for the same shall have been invitedby advertisements in at least one newspaper published in the city once a week for at least twoconsecutive weeks, the last publication to be at least one week before the time specified for theopening of said proposals. Such advertisements shall state the time and place where plans andspecifications of the proposed work or supplies may be had and the time and place for opening theproposals in answer to said advertisements, and shall reserve to the city the right to reject any or allof such proposals. All such proposals shall be opened in public. No bill or contract shall be split ordivided for the purpose of evading any provision of this act. (Section 34 is given as amended byChapter 16 ofthe Acts of 1934), and again amended by Chapter 191 ofthe Acts of 1960, sec.I).
Proposed Amendment:

Deletion of Section in its entirety

Reasoning:

This amendment was proposed in the amendment to the City Charter proposed by the City Council in2016.

This section currently conflicts with the General Laws procurement requirements.
PROPOSED AMENDMENT 16:

Current Section:

SECTION 35. All contracts made by any department, board or commission in which the amountinvolved is one thousand dollars or more shall be in writing, and no such contract shall be deemedto have been made or executed until the approval of the mayor and of the department or boardmaking the contract is affixed thereto. Any contract made as aforesaid may be required to beaccompanied by a bond with sureties satisfactory to the board of officials having the matter in

Page 13 of 19***Subject to review by Charter Review Committee, City Council, and Ballot Question



City Charter Review Proposals by Administration, 9/27/2022

charge, or by a deposit of money, certified check or other security conditioned on the faithfulperformance thereof, and such bonds or other securities shall be deposited with the city treasureruntil the contract has in all respects been carried out; and no such contract shall be altered except bya written agreement of the contractor, the sureties on his bond, and the officer, department or boardmaking the contract, with the approval of the mayor affixed thereto. (Section 35 is given as amendedby Chapter 19! of the Acts of 1960, section 2.)

Proposed Amendment:

Deletion of Section in its entirety

Reasoning:

This section currently conflicts with the General Laws procurement requirements.
It also severely complicates procedures for City Departments as it requires a written contractsigned by the Mayor and a vendor for all contracts for an amount exceeding Si ,000.
By means of example, under the current system, if the School Department wants to purchasepencils for every student currently enrolled in our schools from WE Mason, and the bill comes toS 1,284 (based on current pricing on WB Mason’s website). A written contract would need to beexecuted between WB Mason and the Mayor.

$1,000 was a lot different in 1923 in terms of purchasing power than it is today. When adjustedfor inflation, $1,000 in 1923 was worth the equivalent of $17,319.94 in today’s purchasingpower.

Chapter 30B of the General Laws currently governs all aspects covered by this section of theCity Charter and requires mayoral signature on a contact for all purchases over $10,000.

PROPOSED AMENDMENT 17:

Current Section:

SECTION 37. The school committee shall consist of the mayor, who shall be chairman, and sixpersons who shall be elected at large from the registered voters of the city. At the biennial municipalelection to be held in the year nineteen hundred and ninety-one there shall be elected three persons toserve for two years and three persons to serve for four years. At each biennial election thereafterthere shall be elected three persons to serve for the term of four years. (Section 37 is given asamended by Chapter 290 of the Acts of 1989, section 1). NOTE: For provisions with respect toelection of members to and powers and duties of the Montachusett Regional Vocational TechnicalSchool District Committee. see Chapter 560 of the Acts of 1964 and Chapter 543 of the Acts of1965).

Proposed Amendment:

Page 14 of 19***Subject to review by Charter Review Committee, City Council, and Ballot Question



City Charter Review Proposals by Administration, 9/27/2022

SECTION 37. The school committee shall consist of the mayor, or [heir designee. who shall bechairman, and six persons who shall be elected at large from the registered voters of the city. At thebiennial municipal election to be held in the year nineteen hundred and ninety one there shall beelected threc persons to serve for two years and three persons to serve for four years. At each biennialelection thereafter there shall be elected three persons to serve for the term of four years. (Seclion 37is given as arnenckdbv Chapter 290 of 11w Acts of 1989, section 1). NOTE: For provisions withrespect to election of members to and powers and duties of the Monwchusett Regional VocationalTechnical School District Committee, see Chapter 560 of the Acts of 1964 and Chapter 513 of theActs of 1965).

Reasoning:

This allows and gives the Mayor the option to designate someone to serve as the Chair of the SchoolCommittee.

Furthermore it removes all references to an election that has already passed and statutory referenceswhich could change overtime by vote of the General Court.

PROPSOED AMENDMENT 18:

Current Section:

SECTION 42. All meetings of the school committee shall be open to the public, except thatwhen requested by not less than four members of the committee, any particular meeting shall beprivate. The vote on any particular measure shall be by the call of yeas and nays, when it is sorequested by not less than two members of the committee.

Proposed Amendment:

Deletion of Section in its entirety.

Reasoning:

This section blatantly conflicts the Commonwealth’s open meeting law.

PROPOSED AMENDMENT 19:

Current Section:

SECTION 43. If a vacancy occurs in the school committee by failure to elect, or otherwise, the citycouncil and the remaining members of the school committee shall meet in joint convention and electa suitable person to fill the vacancy until the next regular city election. The mayor, if present, shallpreside at the convention.

Proposed amendment:

SECTION 43: On the first Monday in January the school committee members -elect shall appearbefore the city council and be sworn to the faithful discharge of their duties. The oath may be

Page 15 of 19***Subject to review by Charter Review Committee, City Council, and Ballot Question



City Charter Review Proposals by Administration, 9/27/2022

administered by the city clerk or by any justice of the peace. At any meeting no more than sixty(60) days thereafter the oath may be administered in the presence of the school committee, to anyschool committee member-elect absent from the meeting on the first Monday in January. Theschool committee may, upon a two thirds vote extend the period of time in which a schoolcommittee member-elect has to take the oath of office up to ninety (90) additional days. If avacancy occurs in the school committee by failure to elect, or otherwise, the city council and theremaining members of the school committee shall meet in joint convention and elect a suitableperson to fill the vacancy until the next regular city election. The mayor, if present. shall presideat the convention.

Reasoning:

This amendment was proposed in the amendment to the City Charter proposed by the City Council in2016.

PROPOSED AMENDMENT 20:

Current Section:

SECTION 5!. The ballots used in voting upon such proposed measure shall state the nature of themeasure in terms sufficient to show the substance thereof. No measure shall go into effect unless itreceives the affirmative votes ofat least a third of the whole number of registered voters.
Proposed Amendment:

Deletion of section in its entirety

Reasoning:

This amendment was proposed in the amendment to the City Charter proposed by the City Council in2016.

This section is cuffently in conflict with the General Laws of the Commonwealth.

SUGGESTED AREAS OF FURTHER REVIEW
I believe the following sections should be reviewed to see whether they should remain in theCharter, be deleted, or amended to meet current operations, though their current placement in thecharter does not provide any substantial detriment to current operations even if the language isoutdated.

SUGGESTED AREA OF REVIEW 1:

Sections 1 through three of the City Charter deal with how the Selectmen of the Town ofGardner in 2022 shall call for elections and oversee the transition from a Town form ofgovernment to a City form.

Page 16of19***Subject to review by Charter Review Committee, City Council, and Ballot Question



City Charter Review Proposals by Administration, 9127/2022

SUGGESTED AREA OF REVIEW 2:

Section 7 of the City Charter gives the specific language that must be used by the Mayor whenmaking appointments of individuals to City offices. While the language certainly works, 1believe that defining specific language that must be used on appointment certificates cansomewhat restrict the Office of Mayor in some cases or cause the mayor to appoint someone whomay not truly fit the required wording based on how you interpret the language.I can firmly stand behind every appointment I have made during my tenures as Mayor in Gardnerfor the past two years, and believe each one of them to have been the best for the jobs that theywere appointed to. However, the Charter should look to the position, not the person, and the“what ifs” that may arise in the operations of the City’s government in order to ensure that theCity’s governing document can insulate the City from any issues that may arise when anomaliesoccur.

SUGGESTED AREA OF REVIEW 3:

Section 13 of the City Charter gives an example of what a nomination form should look like “insubstantial form.” I personally believe that examples such as this do not belong in a documentlike a Charter, since they one provide date references to the nineteen hundreds and as thelanguage of the charter states, could differ in some ways from what is printed.
The same can be said with the language provided by the City Charter regarding the “PETITIONACCOMPANYING STATEMENT OF CANDIDATE”- which title in and of itself can bethough to be grammatically incorrect as currently printed in the Charter.
SUGGESTED AREA OF REVIEW 4:

Section 14 of the City Charter provides language for the official primary ballot, which for thesame reasons listed in Suggested Area of Review 3, 1 believe should be discussed as to whetheror not that should remain in the charter. These types of documents are largely governed byregulations issued by the Secretary of the Commonwealth’s office and would be covered withoutCharterial reference.

SUGGESTED AREA OF REVIEWS:

Section 22 of the City Charter relates to the municipal election of 1937 and states that allelections after that under the current system, except for the current way school committeemembers are elected.

I believe this should be looked at to clean up the language and provide for the current system bywhich the school committee is elected.

This section is also in conflict with Chapter 290 of the Acts of 1989 which staggered the termsof those on the School Committee.

Page 17 of 19***Subject to review by Charter Review Committee, City Council, and Ballot Question



City Charter Review Proposals by Administration, 9/27/2022

SUGGESTED AREA OF REVIEW 6:

Section 24 of the City Charter can be interpreted, in some ways, to be in conflict with theConflict of Interest and Ethics laws of the Commonwealth.

Furthermore, it states that all “motions, resolutions, and ordinances,” need a majority vote of allmembers of the City Council. I believe it may be worth discussing whether the majority voteshould be considered of all members of the City Council versus those present and voting, as isallowed under certain circumstances of the General Laws.

SUGGESTED AREA OF REVIEW 7:
In the event the Committee issues formal recommendations for amending the City Charter,Section 53 would have to be amended to provide for new language for the citizens on the ballotfor when the proposed amendments are voted on.

SUGGESTED AREA OF REVIEW 8:

As stated in some of the previous items, I believe that any statutory references should beremoved from the document as those references could change at any time by vote of the GeneralCourt and thus could cause confusing or conflicting language in the current charter.
SUGGESTED AREA OF REVIEW 9:

All references to personnel in the charter are male, as was the way with legislative drafting in1923, only 4 years after women received the right to vote through the jgih Amendment.
I would suggest that the Committee review changing theses references throughout the documentto make the document more inclusive as several women have held elective and appointed officein the City’s history since the Charter was first adopted.

SUGGESTED AREA OF REVIEW 10:

The following Session Laws were originally proposed by the 2015 Charter Review Committee tobe included in new Charter legislation to be repealed in order to bring the Charter and itsamendments in line with current practice and current state law.

- Chapter 16 of the Acts of 1934
o Required that all City Contracts valued over $500 be advertised in a newspaper ofgeneral circulation in the City

• This is now in conflict and covered by MGL c.30B
- Chapter 65 of the Acts of 1935

o Required that all ordinances be advertised in a newspaper of general circulation inthe City
• Currently governed by the General Laws following the MunicipalModernization Act of 2016

Page 18 of 19***subject to review by Charter Review Committee, City Council, and Ballot Question



City Charter Review Proposals by Administration, 9/27/2022

o Also stated that ballot initiatives be placed on the ballot if twelve percent (12%)of the voters in an election.
This is governed by State Law and is in conflict with the language in theCharter itself which requires 8% for a general election or 20% for aspecial election. I believe the committee should determine how thisadopted statute relates to the language and how to proceed with thatmatter.

Chapter 111 of the Acts of 1947
o This set the Mayor’s salary at $4,000 per year and the City Council Salary at $500- While this is no longer in practice, it was never repealed.Chapter 184 of the Acts of 1939
o This set the Mayor’s salary at $2,500 per year and the City Council Salary at $300• While this is no longer in practice, it was never repealed.Chapter 191 of the Acts of 1960
o Confirmed that all purchases over $1,000 must be made through a contract inwriting

Currently covered by MGL c.30BChapter 34 of the Acts of 1975
o Set the School Committee temporarily to 2 year terms and required that themembership of the school committee be one representative from each ward of theCity.

• Not current practice but never repealed
• In conflict with Chapter 290 of the Acts of 1989 which set the term forschool committee members to 4 year terms and all members as at largecandidates.

Chapter 206 of the Acts of 1975 and Chapter 590 of the Acts of 1975o Set the procedures to fill vacancies in elected office• Later adopted as regular language into the City Charter but never repealedChapter 150 of the Acts of 2011
o A ward councilor who no longer resides in their respective ward followingconstitutionally required redistricting after the federal census is allowed to finishtheir term representing their former ward until the winners of the next electiontake office.

• I believe the committee should review adding this language into theCharter itself rather than just through a session law that the General Courtadopted.

Page 19 of 19***subject to review by Charter Review Committee, City Council, and Ballot Question



2015 City Council
Proposal



PETITION CCPY
VOTED: To petition the General Court that legislation be adopted precisely as follows.
The General Court may make clerical or editorial changes of form only to the bill, unless
the Mayor and City Council approve amendments to the bill before enactment by the
General Court. The Mayor and City Council are hereby authorized to approve
amendments which shall be within the scope of the general public objectives of this
petition.

AN ACT RELATIVE TO THE CHARTER OF THE CITY OF GARDNER.

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representatives in Genera! C’oun assembled,and by the authority ofthe same, asfollows:

SECTION 1. Section 9 of the charter of the city of Gardner, which is on file in the
office of the archivist of the commonwealth, as provided in section 12 of chapter 43B of
the General Laws, as appearing in the 2008 Official Edition, is hereby amended by
inserting after the first sentence the following words:- The person so removed shall
receive a copy of the reasons for removal and may, if desired, to contest the same before
the city council and may be represented by counsel at the hearing.

SECTION 2. Said Charter is hereby thither amended by striking from Section 12 the
words “fourth Tuesday” and inserting in place thereof the following words:- seventh
Tuesday.

SECTION 3. Said charter is hereby further amended by striking out section 23 and
inserting in place thereof the following section:- On the first Monday in January or on the
following day whenever said first Monday shall also be New Year’s Day, the mayor-elect
and the councilors-eleet shall meet and be sworn to the faithful discharge of their duties.
The oath may be administered by the city clerk or by any justice of the peace, and a
certificate that the oath has been taken shall be entered on the journal of the city council.
At any meeting no more than sixty (60) days thereafter the oath may be administered, in
the presence of the city council, to any councilor absent from the meeting on the first
Monday in January. The Council may, upon a two thirds vote extend the period of time in
Petition For An Act Relative To The Charter Of The City oIGardner- Final Page 1 of S



PETITION

which a councilor-etect has to cake the oath of office up to ninety (90) additional days. If
the mayor-elect fails to take the office as set forth herein, the office of Mayor shall be
filled pursuant to Section 32. If the mayor-elect continues in his or her failure to take the
oath of office for a period of six (6) months after the first Monday in January, the office
shall be deemed vacant and thereafter filled in accordance with Section 32.

SECTION 4. Said charter is hereby further amended by striking out section 31 and
inserting in place thereof the following section:- The civil service laws shall not apply to
the appointment of any position within the mayor’s office, and the mayor may remove
such appointees without a hearing and without making a statement of the cause for their
removal.

SECTION 5. Said charter is hereby fiwther amended by striking out section 32 and
inserting in place thereof the following section:- If a vacancy occurs in the office of
mayor by death or resignation, before the last six months of the term of office, the city
council shall order an election to fill the same for the unexpired term; and if such vacancy
occurs in the office of the mayor in the last six months of said term, the president of the
city council shall succeed thereto for the unexpired term.

If a vacancy occurs in the position of councilor at-large by death or resignation, the city
council shall appoint the person who received the seventh highest vote total for the
position of coundilor at large during the most recent municipal election to fill the vacancy
for the unexpired term, if the person is willing to serve, then to the eighth and so on until a
person is appointed.

If a vacancy occurs in the position of ward councilor by death or resignation, the city
council shall appoint the person from the same ward who received the next highest vote
total in the most recent municipal election to till the vacancy for the unexpired term,
except that if there was not another candidate for the ward couneilor position, then the city
council, by a majority vote, may elect a resident of the same ward to fill the vacancy for
the unexpired term.

Petition For An Act Relative To The Charter Of The City Of Gardner - Final Page 2dB



PETITION

If the Mayor is absent or unable from my cause temporarily to perform his duties, or if hisoffice is vacant during the first eighteen months of his term by death or resignation, hisduties shall be performed by the president of the city council. The person upon whom suchduties shall devolve shall be called “acting mayor’ and he shall possess the powers ofmayor only in matters not admitting of delay, but shall have no power to make permanentappointments.

Should an appointive officer of the city be temporarily unable for any cause to perform hisduties, the mayor or the city council, whichever has the power of original appointmentmay make a temporary appointment of some person to act until the official shall resumehis duties. (Section 32 is given as amended by Chap. 590 Acts of 1975.)

SECTION 6. Said charter is hereby further amended by striking out section 33 in itsentirety.

SECTION 7. Said charter is hereby further amended by striking out section 34 in itsentirety.

SECTION 8. Said charter is hereby further amended by striking out section 42 andinserting in place thereof the following section:- The vote on any particular measurebefore the school committee shall be by the call of yeas and nays, when it is so requestedby not less than two members of the committee.

SECTION 9. Said charter is hereby further amended by striking out section 43 andinserting in place thereof the following section:- On the first Monday in 3anuarg or on thefollowing day whenever said first Monday shall also be New Year’s Day, the schoolcommittee members-elect shall meet and be sworn to the faithful discharge of theirduties. The oath may be administered by the city clerk or by any justice of the peace. Atany meeting no more than sixty (60) days thereafter the oath may be administered, in thepresence of the city council and the school committee, to any school committee member-
Petition ForM Act Relative To The Charter OiThe City Of Gardner- Final Page 3 of S



PETITION

elect absent from the meeting on the first Monday in January. The school committee may,
upon a two thirds vote extend the period of time in which a school committee member-
elect has to take the oath of office up to ninety (90) additional days. If a vacancy occurs
in the school committee by death, resignation, or by failure to elect, the city council shall
appoint the person who received the next highest vote total in the most recent municipal
election to fill the vacancy for the unexpired term, except that if there was not another
candidate for school committee, then the city council and the remaining members of the
school committee shall meet in joint convention and elect a suitable person to fill the
vacancy for the unexpired term. The mayor, if present, shall preside at the convention.

SECTION 10. Said charter is hereby further amended by striking out section 46 and
inserting in place thereof the following section:- If an initiative petition be signed by
registered voters equal in number, except as otherwise provided in this act, to at least
fifteen per cent of the whole number of registered voters, the city council or the school
committee shall, within twenty days after the date of the certificate of the registrars of
voters that the petition has been signed by the required percentage of registered voters,
either-

1. Pass said measure without alteration, subject to the referendum vote provided
by this act or

2. The city clerk shall call a special election to be held on a Tuesday fixed by
said clerk not less than thirty nor more than forty-five days after the date of
qualification, and shall submit the proposed measure without alteration to a vote
of the registered voters of the city at that election; provided, however, that if any
city election is otherwise to occur within ninety days after the date of
qualification, the city clerk may, at his discretion, omit calling the special election
and submit the proposed measure to the voters at such approaching election.

SECTION Il. Said charter is hereby further amended by striking out section 47 and
inserting in place thereof the following section:- If an initiative petition be signed by

Pettttan Far An Act Relative To The Charter Of The City or Gardner - Final Page 4 oF S



PETITION

registered voters equal in number to at least eight per cent but less than fifteen per cent of
the total number of registered voters, and said measure be not passed without alteration
within twenty days by the city council or the school committee, as provided in the
preceding section, then such proposed measure, without alteration, shall be submitted by
the city clerk to a vote of the registered voters of the city at the next regular city election.

SECTION 12. Said charter is hereby further amended by striking out section 51 in its
entirety.

SECTION 13. The following question shall be placed on the ballot to be used at the next
regular city election to be held in the city of Gardner: Shall an act entitled “An Act
Relative to the Charter of the City of Gardner” be accepted?

The city solicitor shall prepare the summary of the proposed charter amendments which
shall appear on the ballot along with the question provided in this section.

If a majority of votes cast in answer to the question is in the affirmative, the city shall be
taken to have accepted the charter of the city of Gardner, but not otherwise.

SECTION 14. This act shall take effect upon its passage.

Petition ForAn Act Relative To The Charter Of The City oIcardner- Final Pages of S



2015 Charter
Committee

Recom mendations



G
a
rd

n
e
r

C
h
a
rt

e
r

R
ev

ie
w

C
o
m

m
it

te
e

F
in

al
R

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti

o
n

S
u
m

m
ar

y
M

ar
ch

20
14

T
h
e

G
ar

d
n
er

C
h
ar

te
r

R
ev

ie
w

C
o
m

m
it

te
e’

s
m

is
si

o
n

is
to

re
co

m
m

en
d

a
c
h
a
rt

e
r

fo
r

th
e

C
it

y
th

a
t

p
ro

v
id

e
s

a
lo

ca
l
g
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t

th
a
t

is
tr

a
n
sp

a
re

n
t,

ef
fe

ct
iv

e,
ef

fi
ci

en
t,

a
n
d

re
sp

o
n
si

v
e,

b
o
th

fo
r

th
e

p
re

se
n
t

d
ay

a
n
d

fo
r

fu
tu

re
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
s.

C
it

y
C

o
u
n
ci

l
T

he
cu

rr
en

t
11

m
em

b
er

ci
ty

co
un

ci
ls

;
6

el
ec

te
d

at
-l

ar
g
e

an
d

S
el

ec
te

d
by

w
ar

d
w

ou
ld

no
t

ch
an

ge
.

T
he

co
un

ci
l

w
ou

ld
co

nt
in

ue
to

ap
po

in
t

a
ci

ty
cl

er
k

bu
t

w
ou

ld
no

lo
ng

er
ap

po
in

t
th

e
au

di
to

r
or

th
e

tr
ea

su
re

/c
o
ll

ec
to

r;
th

o
se

po
si

ti
on

s
w

ou
ld

be
ap

po
in

te
d

by
th

e
m

ay
or

.
A

ll
d
ep

ar
tm

en
t

he
ad

s
ap

po
in

te
d

by
th

e
m

ay
or

w
ou

ld
be

su
b
je

ct
to

co
nf

ir
m

at
io

n
by

th
e

ci
ty

co
un

ci
l.

T
he

ci
ty

co
un

ci
l

w
ou

ld
re

ta
in

th
e

po
w

er
s

of
m

un
ic

ip
al

le
gi

sl
at

iv
e

bo
di

es
in

M
as

sa
ch

us
et

ts
.

M
ay

o
r

T
he

m
ay

or
w

ou
ld

co
nt

in
ue

to
be

th
e

ch
ie

f
ex

ec
ut

iv
e

of
fi

ce
r

of
th

e
ci

ty
,

re
sp

on
si

bl
e

fo
r

its
d
ay

-t
o
-d

ay
op

er
at

io
ns

.
T

he
m

ay
or

w
ou

ld
ap

po
in

t
d
ep

ar
tm

en
t

he
ad

s
an

d
m

em
be

rs
of

bo
ar

ds
an

d
co

m
m

is
si

on
s,

su
b
je

ct
to

ci
ty

co
un

ci
l

co
nf

ir
m

at
io

n.
T

he
m

ay
or

w
ou

ld
se

rv
e

a
4
-y

ea
r

te
rm

,
ra

th
er

th
an

th
e

cu
rr

en
t

2
-y

ea
r

te
rm

.

S
c
h
o
o
l

C
o
m

m
it

te
e

T
he

sc
ho

ol
co

m
m

it
te

e
w

ou
ld

be
co

m
e

a
7-

m
em

be
r

bo
dy

el
ec

te
d

at
-l

ar
g
e;

th
e

m
ay

or
w

ou
ld

co
nt

in
ue

to
se

rv
e

as
th

e
m

em
be

r
an

d
w

ou
ld

co
nt

in
ue

to
be

th
e

ch
ai

r.

O
rg

a
n
iz

a
ti

o
n

o
f

C
it

y
O

p
e
ra

ti
o
n
s

T
he

m
ay

or
w

ou
ld

be
au

th
or

iz
ed

to
su

bm
it

re
or

ga
ni

za
ti

on
pl

an
s

of
ci

ty
d
ep

ar
tm

en
ts

an
d

bo
ar

ds
an

d
co

m
m

is
si

on
s

to
th

e
ci

ty
co

un
ci

l.
T

he
ci

ty
co

un
ci

l
co

ul
d

ap
pr

ov
e

or
re

je
ct

th
e

m
ay

or
’s

pr
op

os
al

s
bu

t
w

ou
ld

no
t

ha
ve

th
e

au
th

or
it

y
to

am
en

d
th

em
.

F
in

a
n
c
e
s

T
he

m
ay

or
w

ou
ld

be
re

qu
ir

ed
to

ca
ll

a
jo

in
t

m
ee

ti
ng

of
th

e
ci

ty
co

un
ci

l
an

d
th

e
sc

ho
ol

co
m

m
it

te
e

to
re

vi
ew

th
e

fi
sc

al
co

nd
it

io
n

of
th

e
ci

ty
be

fo
re

th
e

st
ar

t
of

ea
ch

ye
ar

’s
bu

dg
et

pr
oc

es
s.

T
he

bu
dg

et
pr

oc
es

s
w

ou
ld

be
co

m
e

m
or

e
op

en
an

d
tr

an
sp

ar
en

t,
an

d
w

ou
ld

re
qu

ir
e

a
pu

bl
ic

he
ar

in
g.

T
he

m
ay

or
w

ou
ld

be
re

qu
ir

ed
to

pr
ep

ar
e

fi
ve

-y
ea

r
fi

na
nc

ia
l

pr
oj

ec
ti

on
s

an
d

ca
pi

ta
l

im
pr

ov
em

en
t

pr
og

ra
m

s.
A

n
an

nu
al

au
di

t
w

ou
ld

be
co

nd
uc

te
d

by
an

in
de

pe
nd

en
t

pu
bl

ic
ac

co
u
n
ta

n
t

se
le

ct
ed

an
d

ov
er

se
en

by
th

e
ci

ty
co

un
ci

l.

P
ro

h
ib

it
io

n
s

M
em

be
rs

of
th

e
ci

ty
co

un
ci

l
or

sc
ho

ol
co

m
m

it
te

e
w

ou
ld

no
t

be
al

lo
w

ed
to

ho
ld

an
y

o
th

er
co

m
p
en

sa
te

d
m

un
ic

ip
al

po
si

ti
on

.
N

o
fo

rm
er

m
em

b
er

of
th

e
ci

ty
co

un
ci

l
or

sc
ho

ol
co

m
m

it
te

e
ca

n
ho

ld
an

y
co

m
pe

ns
at

ed
ap

po
in

te
d

m
un

ic
ip

al
po

si
ti

on
un

til
1

ye
ar

af
te

r
th

ei
r

se
rv

ic
e

en
ds

.
A

ny
el

ec
te

d
of

fi
ci

al
fi

na
lly

co
nv

ic
te

d
of

a
fe

lo
ny

w
ou

ld
im

m
ed

ia
te

ly
be

re
m

ov
ed

fr
om

of
fi

ce
.

E
le

c
ti

o
n
s

E
le

ct
io

ns
w

ou
ld

ta
ke

pl
ac

e
in

S
ep

te
m

b
er

an
d

N
ov

em
be

r
in

ea
ch

od
d-

nu
m

be
re

d
y
ea

r
as

th
ey

ar
e

no
w

.

V
o
te

r
P

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti

o
n

P
ro

v
is

io
n
s

T
he

re
w

ou
ld

be
pr

ov
is

io
ns

fo
r

vo
te

rs
to

di
re

ct
ly

pa
rt

ic
ip

at
e

in
th

e
de

ci
si

on
s

of
ci

ty
go

ve
rn

m
en

t.
T

he
re

w
ou

ld
be

a
pr

ov
is

io
n

to
al

lo
w

vo
te

rs
;

to
in

it
ia

te
a

re
fe

re
nd

um
to

al
lo

w
vo

te
rs

to
re

v
er

se
m

ea
su

re
s

ad
op

te
d

by
th

e
ci

ty
co

un
ci

l
or

sc
ho

ol
co

m
m

it
te

e;
an

d
to

in
it

ia
te

pe
ti

ti
on

s
to

co
m

pe
l

th
e

ci
ty

co
un

ci
l

or
sc

ho
ol

co
m

m
it

te
e

to
ad

op
t

m
ea

su
re

s.
T

he
re

w
ou

ld
be

a
re

ca
ll

pr
oc

ed
ur

e
fo

r
al

l
el

ec
te

d
of

fi
ci

al
s.

T
he

re
w

ou
ld

be
sa

fe
g
u
ar

d
s

ag
ai

n
st

fr
iv

ol
ou

s
pe

ti
ti

on
s.

C
h
a
rt

e
r

a
n
d

O
rd

in
a
n
c
e

R
e
v
ie

w
T

he
C

ity
w

ou
ld

be
re

qu
ir

ed
to

re
vi

ew
its

ch
ar

te
r

ev
er

y
te

n
y
ea

rs
an

d
co

di
fy

it
s

or
di

na
nc

es
ev

er
y

fi
ve

ye
ar

s.

T
im

e
li

n
e

T
he

re
co

m
m

en
da

ti
on

s
w

ill
be

fi
le

d
w

ith
th

e
ci

ty
co

un
ci

l
an

d
th

e
m

ay
or

in
M

ar
ch

.
T

he
ci

ty
co

un
ci

l
w

ill
de

li
be

ra
te

an
d

su
bm

it
a

ho
m

e
ru

le
pe

ti
ti

on
to

th
e

m
ay

or
fo

r
ap

pr
ov

al
.

T
he

st
at

e
le

gi
sl

at
ur

e
w

ill
th

en
ta

ke
ac

ti
on

on
th

e
pe

ti
ti

on
.

If
th

e
pe

ti
ti

on
is

ap
pr

ov
ed

,
it

w
ill

ap
p
ea

r
on

th
e

ba
ll

ot
at

th
e

st
at

e
el

ec
ti

on
in

N
ov

em
be

r
20

14
.



CITY OF GARDNER, MASSACHUSE17S

CHARTER REVIEW COMMITTEE

FINAL RECOMMENDATIONS FOR

A SPECIAL ACT CHARTER

March 2014

Andrew Boucher, Chair
Leonette Roy, Vice-Chair

David Curran
Patricia Jandris

Albert LaFreniere
Charles Leblanc

CIeo Monette
Edward Yabionski

Arthur Young



I AN ACT REVISING THE CHARTER FOR THE CITY OF GARDNER.
7

3 Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representatives in General Court
4 assembled, and by the authority of the same as follows:
5

6 SECTION 1. The following shall be the charter for the city of Gardner.
7

8 ARTICLE 1

9 INCORPORATION; SHORT TITLE; DEFINITIONS
10

11 SECTION 1-1: INCORPORATION

12 The inhabitants of the city of Gardner, within the territorial limits established
13 by law, shall continue to be a municipal corporation, a body corporate and
14 politic, under the name ‘City of Gardner”.
15

16 SECTION 1-2: SHORT TITLE
17 This instrument shall be known and may be cited as the city of Gardner
18 charter.

19

20 SECTION 1-3: DIVISION OF POWERS
21 The administration of the fiscal, prudential and municipal affairs of the city of
22 Gardner shall be vested in an executive branch headed by a mayor and a
23 legislative branch consisting of a city council. The legislative branch shall
24 never exercise any executive power and the executive branch shall never
25 exercise any legislative power.
26

27 SECTION 1-4: POWERS OF THE CITY
28 Subject only to express limitations on the exercise of any power or function
29 by a municipal government in the constitution or General Laws, it is the

2



i intention and the purpose of the voters of Gardner, through the adoption of
2 this charter, to secure for themselves and their government all of the powers
3 it is possible to secure as fully and as completely as though each power were
4 specifically and individually enumerated in this charter.
5

6 SECTION 1-5: CONSTRUCTION

7 The powers of the city of Gardner under this charter are to be construed
8 liberally in favor of the city, and the specific mention of any particular power
9 is not intended to limit the general powers of the city as stated in section 1-

10 4.

11

12 SECTION 1-6: INTERGOVERNMENTAL RELATIONS
13 Subject only to express limitations in the constitution or General Laws, the
14 city of Gardner may exercise any of its powers or perform any of its
15 functions and may participate in the financing thereof, jointly or in
16 cooperation, by contract or otherwise, with the commonwealth or any of its
17 agencies or political subdivisions, or with the United States government or
18 any of its agencies.

19

20 SECTION 1-7: DEFINITIONS

21 As used in this charter, the following words shall, unless the context clearly
22 requires otherwise, have the following meanings:
23 (1) “Charter”, this charter and any adopted amendments to it.
24 (2) “City”, the city of Gardner.
25 (3) “City agency”, any multiple member body, any department, division, or
26 office of the city of Gardner.
27 (4) “City office or department head”, a person having charge of a city office
28 or department.

3



1 (5) “City website”, a site established and maintained by the city as its online
2 repository of municipal information, whether on the Internet or accessed
3 through another comparable technology.
4 (6) “Emergency”, a sudden, generally unexpected occurrence or set of
5 circumstances demanding immediate action.
6 (7) “Full city council”, the entire authorized membership of the city council,
7 notwithstanding any vacancy which might exist.
8 (8) “Full multiple member body”, the entire authorized membership of a
9 multiple member body, notwithstanding any vacancy that exists.

10 (9) “Full school committee”, the entire authorized membership of the school
II committee, notwithstanding any vacancy that exists.
12 (10) “Initiative measure”, a measure proposed by the voters through the
13 initiative process provided under this charter.
14 (11) “Local newspaper”, a newspaper of general circulation within Gardner,
is with either a weekly or daily circulation.
16 (12) “Majority vote”, when used in connection with a meeting of a multiple
17 member body, shall mean a majority of those present and voting, unless
18 another provision is made by ordinance or by such body’s own rules;
19 provided, however, that General Laws related to any vote to meet in
20 executive session shall always require a majority of the full multiple member
21 body.

22 (13) “Measure”, any ordinance, order or other vote or proceeding adopted,
23 or which might be adopted, by the city council or the school committee.
24 (14) “Multiple member body”, any council, commission, committee,
25 subcommittee or other body consisting of 2 or more persons whether
26 elected, appointed or otherwise constituted, but not including the city
27 council, the school committee or an advisory committee appointed by the
28 mayor.

4



1 (15) “Organization or reorganization plan”, a plan submitted by the mayor to
2 the city council which proposes a change in the organization or the
3 administrative structure of the city organization or a change in the way in
4 which any municipal service is delivered.
5 (16) “Quorum”, a majority of all voting members of a multiple member body
6 unless some other number is required by law or by ordinance.
7 (17) “Recall”, an election to remove an elected official from office before the
8 expiration of the term for which elected.
9 (18) “Referendum measure”, a measure adopted by the city council or the

10 school committee that is protested under the referendum procedures of this
11 charter.

12 (19) “Remove from the city” or “remove from a ward”, when a person
13 ceases to be domiciled within the territorial limits of the city or a ward.
14 (20) “Voters”, registered voters of the city of Gardner.
15 (21) “Year”, a calendar year, unless otherwise specified.
16

17 ARTICLE 2

18 LEGISLATIVE BRANCH

19

20 SECTION 2-1: COMPO5mON; TERM OF OFFICE; ELIGIBILITY
21 (a) Composition - There shall be a city council consisting of 11 members
22 which shall exercise the legislative powers of the city. Six of these members,
23 to be known as councilors-at-large, shall be nominated and elected by and
24 from the voters at large. Five of these members, to be known as ward
25 councilors, shall be nominated from and elected by the voters in each ward;
26 1 such ward councilor to be elected from each of the 5 wards into which the
27 city is divided under section 8-6.
28 (b) Term of Office - The term of office for councilors shall be 2 years each,
29 beginning on the first Monday in the January succeeding the councilor’s

5



I election, except when that first Monday falls on a legal holiday, in which
2 event the term shall begin on the following day, and until successors have
3 been qualified.

4 (c) Eligibility - Any voter shall be eligible to hold the office of councilor-at
5 large. A ward councilor shall be a voter in the ward from which election is
6 sought. If a ward councilor or a councilor-at-large removes from the city
7 during the councilor’s term, that office shall immediately be deemed vacant
8 and filled in the manner provided in section 2-11. A ward councilor who
9 removes from the ward in which the councilor was elected and who remains

10 a resident of the city may continue to serve during the term for which the
11 councilor was elected. The city council shall determine whether a city
12 councilor has removed from the city.
13

14 SECTION 2-2: PRESIDENT AND VICE-PRESIDENT, ELECTION; TERM;
15 POWERS

6 (a) Election and Term - As soon as practicable after the councilors-elect have
17 been qualified following each regular city election, as provided in section 9-
18 9, the members of the city council shall elect from among its members a
19 president and vice-president who shall serve for 2 year terms. The method
20 of election of the president and vice-president shall be prescribed within the
21 rules of the city council. The rules of the city council in effect at the time of
22 the regular municipal election shall govern the election of the president and
23 vice-president.

24 (b) Powers and Duties - The president shall prepare the agenda for city
25 council meetings. The president shall preside at all meetings of the city
26 council, regulate its proceedings and decide all questions of order. The
27 president shall appoint all members of committees of the city council,
28 whether special or standing. The president shall have the same powers to
29 vote upon measures coming before the city council as any other member of

6



1 the city council. The president shall perform any other duties consistent with
2 the office that are established by charter, ordinance or other vote of the city
3 council. The vice-president shall preside in the absence of the president.
4

5 SECTION 2-3: PROHIBITIONS
6 (a) Holding Other City Position — Except as otherwise provide by the charter,
7 no member of the city council shall hold any other compensated city office or
8 position, whether elected or appointed. No former member of the city council
9 shall hold any compensated appointed city position until 1 year following the

10 date on which the former member’s service on the city council has
11 terminated. This section shall not prevent a city employee who vacated a
12 position in order to serve as a member of the city council from returning to
13 the same position upon the expiration of the term for which that person was
14 elected.

15 (b) Interference with Administration - No city council or any member of the
16 city council shall give orders or directions to any employee of the city who is
17 not appointed by the city council, either publicly or privately.
18

19 SECTION 2-4: COMPENSATION
20 The members of the city council shall receive compensation for their services
21 as set by ordinance. No ordinance increasing or reducing the compensation
22 of the members of the city council shall be effective unless it is adopted by a
23 2/3 vote of the full city council. No ordinance increasing or reducing the
24 compensation of the members of the city council shall be effective unless it
25 is adopted during the first 18 months of the term for which the city council is
26 elected and it provides that the compensation increase or reduction is to
27 take effect upon the organization of the city government following the next
28 regular city election.

29

7



I SECTION 2-5: GENERAL POWERS
2 Except as otherwise provided by the General Laws or by this charter, all
3 powers of the city shall be vested in the city council which shall provide for
4 the performance of all duties and obligations imposed upon the city by law.
5

6 SECTION 2-6: EXERCISE OF POWERS; QUORUM; RULES
7 (a) Exercise of Powers - Except as otherwise provided by General Laws or by
S this charter, the legislative powers of the city council may be exercised in a
9 manner determined by the city council.

10 (b) Quorum - The presence of 6 members shall constitute a quorum for the
11 transaction of business.
12 (c) Rules of Procedure - The city council shall adopt rules regulating the
13 procedures of the city council, which shall include, but not be limited to, the
14 following rules:

15 (i) regular meetings of the cit:y council shall be held at a time and place fixed
16 by ordinance;

17 (ii) special meetings of the city council shall be held at the call of the
18 president or at the call of any 3 or more members, for any purpose;
19 provided, however, that notice of the meeting shall, except in an emergency,
20 which shall be designated by the president, be delivered to each member at
21 least 48 weekday hours in advance of the time set and shall specify the
22 date, time and location of the meeting and the purposes for which the
23 meeting is to be held; provided further, that a copy of each notice shall
24 immediately be posted as the General Laws relative to such postings
25 require;

26 (iii) all sessions of the city council and of every committee or subcommittee
27 of the council shall, at all times, be open to the public, unless otherwise
28 specified by law; and

8



I (iv) a full, accurate, up-to-date account of the proceedings of the city council
2 shall be maintained by the city clerk, which shall include a record of each
3 vote taken and which shall be made available with reasonable promptness
4 following each meeting, but not later than the next regularly scheduled
5 meeting; provided, however, that unless otherwise provided by law, the
6 minutes of an executive session shall be made available as soon as
7 publication of the minutes would not defeat the purpose of the executive
8 session.

9

10 SECTION 2-7: ACCESS TO INFORMATION
11 (a) In General - The city council may make investigations into the affairs of
12 the city and into the conduct and performance of any city agency.
13 (b) Information Requests - The city council may require one or more
14 members of a multiple-member body or city employee(s) to appear before
15 the city council to give any information that the city council may require in
16 relation to the municipal services, functions and powers or duties which are
17 within the scope of responsibility of that person(s) and not within the
18 jurisdiction of the school committee. The city council shall give a minimum
19 of 7 days notice to any such persons it may require to appear before it under
20 this section. The notice shall include specific questions on which the city
21 council seeks information and no person called to appear before the city
22 council under this section shall be required to respond to any question not
23 relevant or related to those questions presented in advance and in writing.
24 (c) Mayor - The city council may request specific information from the mayor
25 on any municipal matter and may request that the mayor be present to
26 answer written questions relating to that information at a meeting to be held
27 not earlier than 7 days from the date the mayor receives the questions. The
28 mayor shall personally, or through a designee, attend such meeting and

9



1 respond to the questions. The mayor, or the person designated to attend,
2 shall not be required to answer questions relating to any other matter.
3

4 SECTION 2-8: APPOINTMENTS OF THE CITY COUNCIL
5 The council shall, by a majority vote, elect a city clerk to hold office for 3
6 years and until said city clerk’s successor is qualified. The city clerk shall
7 have such powers and perform such duties as the council may prescribe, in
8 addition to such duties as may be prescribed by law. Subject to
9 appropriation, the city council may employ staff as it deems necessary.

10

11 SECTION 2-9: ORDINANCES AND OTHER MEASURES
12 (a) Measures- Except as otherwise provided by the charter, every adopted
13 measure shall become effective at the expiration of 10 days after adoption
14 or upon the signature of the mayor, whichever occurs first. No ordinance
15 shall be amended or repealed except by another ordinance adopted in
16 accordance with the charter, or as provided in the initiative and referendum
17 procedures under article 8 of this charter.
18 (b) Emergency Measures- An emergency measure shall be introduced in the
19 form and manner prescribed for measures generally, except that it shall be
20 plainly designated as an emergency measure and shall contain statements
21 after the enacting clause declaring that an emergency exists and describing
22 the scope and nature of the emergency in clear and specific terms. A
23 preamble which declares and defines the emergency shall be separately
24 voted on and shall require the affirmative vote of 2/3 of the full city council.
25 An emergency measure may be passed with an amendment or rejected at
26 the meeting at which it is introduced. No measure making a grant, renewal
27 or extension, whatever its kind or nature, or a franchise or special privilege
28 shall be passed as an emergency measure. Except as provided by the
29 General Laws, such grant, renewal or extension shall be made by ordinance.

10



An emergency measure shall become effective upon adoption or at such
2 later time as it may specify.
3 (c) Charter Objection- On the first occasion that the question on adoption of
4 a measure is put to the city council, if a single member present objects to
S the taking of the vote, the vote shall be postponed until the next meeting of
6 the city council, whether regular or special. If 3 members present object,
7 such postponement shall be until the next regular meeting. If it is an
8 emergency measure at least 5 members must object. This procedure shall
9 not be used more than once for any specific matter notwithstanding an

10 amendment to the original matter. A charter objection shall have privilege
ii over all motions but must be raised prior to or at the call for a vote by the
12 presiding officer and all debate shall cease.
13

14 SECTION 2-10: CITY COUNCIL CONFIRMATION OF CERTAIN APPOINTMENTS
15 The mayor shall refer to the city council and simultaneously file with the city
16 clerk, the name of each person the mayor desires to appoint as a
17 department head or as a member of a multiple-member body. Appointments
18 made by the mayor shall become effective on the forty-fifth day after the
19 date on which notice of the proposed appointment was filed with the city
20 clerk unless approved or rejected by the city council within the 45 days.
2)

22 SECTION 2-11: FILLING OF VACANCIES
23 Whenever a vacancy occurs on the city council, the president of the city
24 council shall, within 30 days following the date of the vacancy, call a special
25 meeting of the city council to fill the vacancy. The city council shall choose a
26 person to fill the vacancy from among the voters entitled to vote for the
27 office. Persons elected to fill a vacancy by the city council shall serve only
28 until the next regular city election, when the office shall be filled by the
29 voters. The candidate elected to an office filled by appointment prior to the

11



I election shall be sworn to the office immediately to complete the then
2 unexpired term in addition to the term for which elected. No vacancy shall
3 be filled under this section if a regular city election is to be held within 120
4 days following the date the vacancy is declared to exist. Persons serving as
5 city councilors under this section shall not be entitled to have the words
6 “candidate for reelection” printed with that person’s name on the election
7 ballot.

8

9 ARTICLE 3

10 EXECUTIVE BRANCH
11

12 SECTION 3-1: MAYOR: QUALIFICATIONS; TERM OF OFFICE;
13 COMPENSATION; PROHIBITIONS
14 (a) Mayor Qualifications — The chief executive officer of the city shall be a
15 mayor, elected by the voters of the city at large. Any voter shall be eligible
16 to hold the office of mayor. The mayor shall devote full-time to the office
17 and shall not hold any other public office.
18 (b) Term of Office — The term of office of the mayor shall be 4 years,
19 beginning on the first Monday in the January succeeding the mayor’s
20 election, except when that first Monday falls on a legal holiday, in which
21 event the term shall begin on the following day, and shall continue until a22 successor has been qualified.
23 (c) Compensation — The city council shall, by ordinance, establish the
24 compensation for the mayor. No ordinance increasing or reducing the
25 compensation of the mayor shall be effective unless it has been adopted by26 a 2/3 vote of the full city council. No ordinance increasing or reducing the
27 compensation of the mayor shall be effective unless it has been adopted
28 during the first 18 months of the term for which the mayor is elected and29 unless it provides that the compensation increase or reduction is to take

12



I effect upon the organization of the city government following the next
2 regular city election.

3 (d) Prohibitions — The mayor shall hold no other city position. No former
4 mayor shall hold a compensated appointed city office or city employment
5 until 1 year following the date on which the former mayor’s city service has
6 terminated. This subsection shall not prevent a city officer or other city
7 employee who has vacated a position in order to serve as mayor from
S returning to the same office or other position of city employment held at the
9 time such position was vacated; provided, however, that no such person

10 shall be eligible for any other municipal position until at least 1 year
11 following the termination of service as mayor. This prohibition shall not apply
12 to persons covered by a leave of absence under section 37 of chapter 31 of
13 the General Laws.

14

15 SECTION 3-2: EXECUTIVE POWERS; ENFORCEMENT OF ORDINANCES
16 The executive powers of the city shall be vested solely in the mayor and may
17 be exercised by the mayor either personally or through the several city
18 agencies under the general supervision and control of the office of the
19 mayor. The mayor shall cause the charter, laws, ordinances and other orders
20 of the city government to be enforced and shall cause a record of all official
21 acts of the executive branch of the city government to be kept. The mayor
22 shall exercise general supervision and direction over all city agencies, unless
23 otherwise provided by law or by this charter. Each city agency shall furnish
24 to the mayor, upon request, any information or materials the mayor may
25 request and as the needs of the office of mayor and the interest of the city
26 may require. The mayor shall supervise, direct and be responsible for the
27 efficient administration of all city activities and functions placed under the
28 control of the mayor by law or by this charter. The mayor shall be
29 responsible for the efficient and effective coordination of the activities of all

13



I agencies of the city and may call together for consultation, conference and
2 discussion, at reasonable times, all persons serving the city, whether elected
3 directly by the voters, chosen by persons elected directly by the voters or
4 otherwise. The mayor shall be, by virtue of the office, a member of every
5 appointed multiple-member body of the city. The mayor may, as such ex
6 officio member, attend a meeting of an appointed multiple-member body of
7 the city, at any time, including, so called executive sessions, to participate in
8 the discussions of that body, but shall not have the right to vote.
9

10 SECTION 3-3: APPOINTMENTS BY THE MAYOR
11 The mayor shall appoint, subject to confirmation by the city council under
12 section 2-10, all department heads and the members of multiple-member
13 bodies for whom no other method of appointment or selection is provided by
14 the charter; provided, however, that this shall not include persons serving
15 under the school committee and persons serving under the city council. All
16 appointments to multiple-member bodies shall be for terms established
17 under article 5. Upon the expiration of the term of any member of a
18 multiple-member body, a successor shall be appointed under article 5. The
19 mayor shall fill a vacancy for the remainder of the unexpired term of any
20 member of a multiple-member body. The method of appointment for all
21 other city employees shall be prescribed by administrative order under
22 article 5.

23

24 SECTION 3-4: TEMPORARY APPOINTMENTS TO CITY OFFICES
25 Whenever a vacancy, either temporary or permanent, occurs in a city office
26 and the needs of the city require that such office be filled, the mayor may
27 designate a person to perform the duties of the office on a temporary basis
28 until the position can be filled as provided by law or by this charter. When

14



I the mayor designates a person under this section, the mayor shall file a
2 certificate with the city clerk in substantially the following form:
3 I designate (name of person) to perform the duties of the office of
4 (designate office in which vacancy exists) on a temporary basis until the
5 office can be filled by (here set out the regular procedure for filling the
6 vacancy, or when the regular officer shall return). I certify that this person is
7 qualified to perform the duties which will be required and that I make this
8 designation solely in the interests of the city of Gardner.
9 Persons serving as temporary officers under this section shall have only

10 those powers of the office indispensable and essential to the performance of
11 the duties of the office during the period of temporary appointment and no
12 others. Notwithstanding any general or special law to the contrary, no
13 temporary appointment shall be for more than 90 days; provided, however,
14 that not more than 2 extensions of a temporary appointment, which shall
15 not exceed a total of 60 days, may be made when a permanent vacancy
16 exists in the office.

17

18 SECTION 3-5: COMMUNICATIONS; SPECIAL MEETINGS
19 (a) Communications to the City Council - The mayor shall, by written
20 communications, recommend to the city council for its consideration
21 measures as, in the judgment of the mayor, the needs of the city require.
22 The mayor shall, by written communication, keep the city council fully
23 informed of the financial and administrative condition of the city and shall
24 specifically indicate in any such reports any fiscal, financial or administrative
25 issues facing the city.
26 (b) Special Meetings of the City Council - The mayor may call a special
27 meeting of the city council for any purpose. Notice of the meeting shall,
28 except in an emergency, which shall be designated by the mayor, be
29 delivered at least 48 weekday hours in advance of the time set and shall

15



specify the date, time and location of the meeting and the purpose for which
2 the meeting is to be held. A copy of the notice shall be posted immediately
3 or as required by the General Laws relative to such a posting.
4

5 SECTION 3-6: APPROVAL OF MAYOR, VETO
6 Every order, ordinance, resolution or vote adopted or passed by the city
7 council relative to the affairs of the city, except memorial resolutions, the
8 selection of city officers by the city council and any matters relating to theg internal affairs of the city council, shall be presented to the mayor for

10 approval within 3 business days of such adoption or passage. If the mayor
approves of the measure, the mayor shall sign it; if the mayor disapproves

12 of the measure, the mayor shall return the measure with the specific reason
13 for such disapproval attached to the measure in writing to the city council.
14 The city council shall enter the objections of the mayor on its records and
15 not less than 10 business days nor more than 30 days from the date of its
16 return to the city council, shall again consider the same measure. If the city
17 council, notwithstanding such disapproval by the mayor, shall again pass the
18 order, ordinance, resolution or vote by a 2/3 vote of the full council, it shall
19 then be deemed in force, notwithstanding the failure of the mayor to
20 approve the same. If the mayor has neither signed a measure nor returned
21 it to the city council within 10 days following the date it was presented to the
22 mayor, the measure shall be deemed approved and in force.
23

24 SECTION 3-7: TEMPORARY ABSENCE OF THE MAYOR
25 (a) Acting Mayor — Whenever, by reason of sickness or other cause, the
26 mayor is unable to perform the duties of the office, the president of the city
27 council shall be the acting mayor. The city council, by the affirmative vote of28 8 members, shall determine whether the mayor is unable to perform the

16



I duties of the office. Notwithstanding any general or special law to the
2 contrary, the vote shall be taken in public session by a roll call vote.
3 (b) Powers of Acting Mayor — The acting mayor shall have only those powers
4 of the mayor as are indispensable and essential to conduct the business of
5 the city in an orderly and efficient manner and on which action may not be
6 delayed. The acting mayor shall have no authority to make a permanent
7 appointment or removal from city service unless the disability or absence of
S the mayor shall extend beyond 60 days nor shall an acting mayor approve or
9 disapprove of any measure adopted by the city council unless the time

10 within which the mayor must act would expire before the return of the
H mayor. The city council president serving as acting mayor shall not vote as a
12 member of the city council.
13 (c) In the event that the city council president is unable to serve as acting
14 mayor under this section, the city council shall elect, from among its
15 membership, a city councilor to serve as acting mayor.
16

17 SECTION 3-8: DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY BY MAYOR
18 The mayor may authorize a subordinate officer or employee of the city to
19 exercise a power or perform a function or a duty which is assigned by this
20 charter, or otherwise, to the mayor and the mayor may rescind or revoke an
21 authorization previously made; provided, however, that all acts performed
22 under any such delegation of authority during the period of authorization
23 shall be and remain the acts of the mayor. Nothing in this section shall be
24 construed to authorize a mayor to delegate the powers and duties of a
25 school committee member, the power of appointment to city office or
26 employment or to sign or return measures approved by the city council.
27

28

29

17



I SECTION 3-9: VACANCY IN OFFICE OF MAYOR
2 Whenever a vacancy occurs in the office of mayor by death, removal,
3 resignation or any other reason during the first through the 41st month of
4 the term for which the mayor was elected, the city council shall call a special
5 election to be held within 90 days following the date the vacancy is created
6 to fill the vacancy for the remainder of the unexpired term. The city council
7 president shall serve as acting mayor until the vacancy is filled. If a regular
8 city election is to be held within 150 days after the date the vacancy is
9 created, a special election need not be held and the position shall be filled by

10 vote at the regular city election and the person elected shall serve for the
11 remainder of the unexpired term.
12 If a vacancy occurs during the 42nd month through the end of the term for
13 which the mayor was elected, the president of the city council shall become
14 acting mayor, shall exercise all the rights and powers of the mayor and shall
15 be sworn to the faithful discharge of the mayoral duties. In the event that
16 the city council president is unable or unwilling to serve, a special meeting of
17 the city council shall be called by the president and the council shall elect, by
18 majority vote, 1 of its members to serve as acting mayor for the remainder
19 of the unexpired term. The individual serving as acting mayor under this
20 section shall not be entitled to have the words “candidate for reelection”
21 printed with that person’s name on the election ballot. Any person serving as
22 mayor under this section shall receive the compensation then in effect for
23 the position of mayor.

24

25

26

27

28

29

18



I ARTICLE 4

2 SCHOOL COMMITTEE
3

4 SECTION 4-1: COMPOSITION; TERM OF OFFICE; ELIGIBILITY
5 (a) Composition There shall be a school committee which shall consist of 7
6 members. Six of these members shall be nominated and elected by the
7 voters of the city at large. The mayor shall serve, by virtue of the office, as
8 the chair of the school committee with all of the same powers and duties as
9 the members elected by the voters as school committee members.

10 (b) Term of Office — The term of office for elected school committee
II members shall be 4 years each so arranged that 3 members shall be elected
12 at each regular city election. Said terms shall begin on the first Monday in
13 the January succeeding the elected school committee member’s election,
14 except when that first Monday falls on a legal holiday, in which event the
15 term shall begin on the following day, and until successors have been
16 qualified.

17 (c) Eligibility — A school committee member shall, at the time of election, be
18 a voter. If a school committee member removes from the city during the
19 term for which that person was elected, that office shall immediately be
20 deemed vacant and filled in the manner provided in section 4-6.
21

22 SECTION 4-2: SCHOOL COMMITTEE CHAIR, VICE CHAIR, SECRETARY
23 (a) Vice-Chair and Secretary Election and Term - As soon as practicable after24 school committee members-elect have been qualified following each regular25 city election, as provided in section 9-9, the members of the school
26 committee shall elect from among its members a vice-chair and a secretary
27 who shall serve for a 2-year term.
28 (b) Chair, Vice-Chair and Secretary Powers and Duties - The chair shall
29 prepare the agenda for school committee meetings. The chair shall preside

19



I at all meetings of the school committee, regulate its proceedings and decide
2 all questions of order. The chair shall appoint all members of committees of
3 the school committee, whether special or standing. The chair shall have the
4 same powers to vote upon measures coming before the school committee as
5 any other member of the school committee. The chair shall perform any
6 other duties consistent with the office that are established by charter,
7 ordinance or other vote of the school committee. The vice-chair shall preside
8 in the absence of the chair. The secretary shall cause the records of the
9 school committee to be kept in accordance with the law.

I0

H SECTION 4-3: PROHIBITIONS
12 No member of the school committee shall hold any other city position. No
13 former member of the school committee shall hold any compensated
14 appointed city office or city employment until 1 year following the date on
15 which that member’s service on the school committee terminated. This
16 section shall not prevent a city officer or other city employee who has
17 vacated a position in order to serve as a member of the school committee
18 from returning to the same office or other position of city employment held
19 at the time the position was vacated; provided, however, that no such
20 person shall be eligible for any other municipal position until at least 1 year
21 following the termination of service as a member of the school committee.
22

23 SECTION 4-4: COMPENSATION
24 The city council may, by ordinance, establish the compensation for the
25 elected members of the school committee. No ordinance increasing or
26 reducing the compensation of elected members of the school committee
27 shall be effective unless it has been adopted by a 2/3 vote of the full city
28 council. No ordinance increasing or reducing the compensation of the elected
29 members of the school committee shall be effective unless it has been

20



I adopted during the first 18 months of the term for which elected school
2 committee members are elected and unless it provides that the
3 compensation increase or reduction is to take effect upon the organization of
4 the city government following the next regular city election.
5

6 SECTION 4-5: SCHOOL COMMITTEE POWERS AND DUTIES
7 The school committee shall have all powers which are conferred on school
8 committees by the General Laws and the additional powers and duties
9 provided by charter, ordinance or otherwise and not inconsistent with the

10 General Laws. The powers and duties of the school committee shall include:11 (i) selecting and removing a superintendent of the schools who shall be
12 charged with the administration of the school system, subject only to policy
13 guidelines and directives adopted by the school committee and, upon the
14 recommendation of the superintendent, to establish and appoint assistant or
15 associate superintendents as authorized by the General Laws;
16 (ii) making all reasonable rules and regulations for the management of the
17 public school system and for conducting the business of the school
18 committee as deemed necessary or desirable; and
19 (iii) adopting and overseeing the administration of an annual operating
20 budget for the school department, subject to appropriation by the city
21 council; provided, however, that the school committee shall have general
22 charge and superintendence of all school buildings and grounds and shall
23 furnish all school buildings with proper fixtures, furniture and equipment;
24 provided further, that the school committee shall provide ordinary
25 maintenance of all school buildings and grounds, unless a central municipal26 maintenance department, which may include maintenance of school
27 buildings and grounds, is established; provided further, that whenever the
28 school committee shall determine that additional classrooms are necessary
29 to meet the educational needs of the community, at least 1 member of the

21



I school committee, or a designee of the school committee, shall serve on the
2 agency, board or committee for the planning or construction of the new,
3 remodeled or renovated school building.
4

5 SECTION 4-6: FILLING OF VACANCIES
6 Whenever an elected member vacancy occurs on the school committee, the
7 president of the city council shall, within 30 days following the date of the
8 vacancy, call a joint meeting of the city council and the school committee to
9 fill the vacancy. The city council and school committee shall choose a person

10 to fill the vacancy from among the voters entitled to vote for the office.
11 Persons elected to fill a vacancy by the city council and school committee
12 shall serve only until the next regular city election, when the office shall be
13 filled by the voters. The candidate elected to an office filled by appointment
14 prior to the election shall be sworn to the office immediately to complete the
15 then unexpired term in addition to the term for which elected. No vacancy
16 shall be filled under this section ii a regular city election is to be held within
17 120 days following the date the vacancy is declared to exist. Persons serving
18 as school committee members under this section shall not be entitled to
19 have the words “candidate for reelection” printed with that person’s name on
20 the election ballot.
21

22 ARTICLE 5

23 ADMINISTRATIVE ORGANIZATION
24

25 SECTION 5-1: ORGANIZATION OF CITY AGENCIES
26 The organization of the city into agencies to provide services and administer
27 the government may be accomplished only through an administrative order
28 submitted to the city council by the mayor. No administrative order may
29 originate with the city council. The mayor may, subject only to express

22



I prohibitions of a genera) law or this charter, submit proposals to reorganize,2 consolidate or abolish any agency, in whole or in part, or to establish a new3 agency as is deemed necessary, establish terms of office and prescribe the4 functions and administrative procedures to be followed by all such agencies.5 No function assigned by this charter to a particular agency may be6 discontinued or assigned to any other agency unless specified by this7 charter. The mayor may prepare and submit to the city council,
8 administrative orders that establish agencies for the orderly, efficient or9 convenient conduct of the business of the city. These administrative orders10 shall be accompanied by a message from the mayor which explains the11 expected benefits and advises the city council if an administrative order shall12 require amendments, insertions, revisions, repeal or otherwise of existing13 ordinances. Whenever the mayor proposes an administrative order, the city14 council shall hold 1 or more public hearings on the proposal giving notice by15 publication in a local newspaper, which notice shall describe the scope of the16 proposal and the time and place at which the public hearing will be held, not17 less than 7 nor more than 14 days following the publication. An organization18 or reorganization plan shall become effective at the expiration of 60 days19 following the date the proposal is submitted to the city council unless the20 city council shall, by a majority vote, within that 60 day period, vote to21 disapprove the plan. The city council may vote only to approve or to22 disapprove the plan and may not vote to amend or to alter it.

23

24 SECTION 5-2: MERIT PRINCIPLES
25 All appointments and promotions of city officers and employees shall be26 made on the basis of merit and fitness demonstrated by examination, past27 performance or by other evidence of competence and suitability. Each28 person appointed to fill an office or position shall be a person especially

23



I fitted by education, training and previous work experience to perform the
2 duties of the office or position.
3

4 ARTICLE 6

5 FINANCE AND FISCAL PROCEDURES
6

7 SECTION 6-1: FISCAL YEAR
8 The fiscal year of the city shall begin on July 1 and shall end on June 30,
9 unless another period is required by the General Laws.

10

11 SECTION 6-2: ANNUAL BUDGET MEETING
12 At least 60 days before the beginning of the fiscal year, the mayor shall call
13 a joint meeting of the city council and school committee, including the
14 superintendent of schools, to review the financial condition of the city,
Is revenue and expenditure forecasts and other relevant information prepared
16 by the mayor in order to develop a coordinated budget.
17

18 SECTION 6-3: SUBMISSION OF OPERATING BUDGET; BUDGET MESSAGE
19 At least 45 days before the beginning of the fiscal year, the mayor shall
20 submit to the city council a proposed operating budget for all city agencies,
21 which shall include the school department, for the ensuing fiscal year with an
22 accompanying budget message and supporting documents. The budget
23 message submitted by the mayor shall explain the operating budget in fiscal
24 terms and in terms of work programs for all city agencies. It shall outline the
25 proposed fiscal policies of the city for the ensuing fiscal year, describe
26 important features of the proposed operating budget and include any major
27 variations from the current operating budget, fiscal policies, revenues and
28 expenditures together with reasons for these changes. The proposed
29 operating budget shall provide a complete fiscal plan of all city funds and

24



1 activities and shall be in the form the mayor deems desirable; provided,
2 however, that the budget shall identify the cost of compensation and the
3 cost of benefits for elected officials. The school budget, as adopted by the
4 school committee shall be submitted to the mayor at least 30 days before
5 the submission of the proposed operating budget to the city council. The
6 mayor shall notify the school committee of the date by which the proposed
7 budget of the school committee shall be submitted to the mayor. The mayor
s and the superintendent of schools shall coordinate the dates and times of
9 the school committee’s budget process under the General Laws.

10

11 SECTION 6-4: ACTION ON THE OPERATING BUDGET
12 (a) Public Hearing - The city council shall publish in at least 1 local
13 newspaper a notice of the proposed operating budget as submitted by the
14 mayor. The notice shall state: (I) the times and places where copies of the
15 entire proposed operating budget are available for inspection by the public;
16 and (ii) the date, time and place when a public hearing on the proposed
17 operating budget will be held by the city council, not less than 14 days after
18 publication of the notice.
19 (b) Adoption of the Budget - The city council shall adopt the proposed
20 operating budget, which may have amendments, within 45 days following
21 the date the proposed budget is filed with the city clerk. In amending the
22 proposed operating budget, the city council may delete or decrease amounts
23 except expenditures required by law; provided, however, that except on the
24 recommendation of the mayor, the city council shall not increase any item in
25 or the total of the proposed operating budget, unless otherwise authorized
26 by the General Laws. If the city council fails to take action on an item in the
27 proposed operating budget within 45 days after its receipt, that amount
28 shall, without any action by the city council, become a part of the
29 appropriations for the year and be available for the purposes specified.

25



1 (c) Availability of the Operating Budget — In addition to any other posting
2 requirements under law, immediately after the submission of the proposed
3 budget to the city council, the mayor shall cause the entire budget document
4 to be posted on the city’s website. Said proposed budget document shall
5 remain posted during the city council review process contained in this article.
6 After the enactment of the budget, it shall be posted on the city’s website
7 and shall remain there throughout the fiscal year for which it is in effect.
8 Said budget document shall reflect any amendments made by the city
9 council and approved by the mayor and shall indicate that it is the final

10 budget of the city.

11

12 SECTION 6-5: CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM
13 (a) Submission - The mayor shall submit a capital improvement program to
14 the city council at least 120 days before the start of each fiscal year. The
15 capital improvement program shall include:
16 (1) a general summary of its contents;
17 (2) a list of all capital improvements proposed to be undertaken during the
18 next 5 years, with supporting information as to the need for each capital
19 improvement;

20 (3) cost estimates, methods of financing and recommended time schedules
21 for each improvement; and
22 (4) the estimated annual cost of operating and maintaining each facility and
23 piece of major equipment involved.
24 This information shall be annually revised by the mayor with regard to the
25 capital improvements still pending or in the process of being acquired,
26 improved or constructed.
27 (b) Public Hearing - The city council shall publish in at least 1 newspaper of
28 general circulation in the city a notice stating: (i) the times and places where
29 entire copies of the capital improvements program are available for

26



I inspection by the public; and, (ii) the date, time and place of a public
2 hearing on the plan to be held by the city council not less than 14 days after
3 publication of the notice.
4 (c) Adoption - At any time after the public hearing but before the last day of
5 the last month of the current fiscal year, the city council shall by resolution
6 adopt the capital improvements program, which may be amended, provided
7 that each amendment shall be voted on separately and that an increase in
S the capital improvements program as submitted shall clearly identify the
9 method pf financing to accomplish the proposed increase.

10

Ii SECTION 6-6: INDEPENDENT AUDIT
12 The city council shall annually provide for an outside audit of the books and
13 accounts of the city to be conducted by a certified public accountant or a
14 firm of certified public accountants, which has no personal interest, direct or
15 indirect, in the fiscal affairs of the city or any of its officers. The mayor shall
16 annually provide to the city council a sum of money sufficient to satisfy the
17 estimated cost of conducting the audit as presented to the mayor, in writing,
18 by the city council. The award of a contract to audit shall be made by the
19 city council on or before September 15 of each year. The report of the audit
20 shall be filed in final form with the city council not later than March 1 in the
21 year following its award. At least every 5 years, the city council shall conduct
22 a competitive procurement process to retain these auditing services.
23

24 SECTION 6-7: EXPENDITURES IN EXCESS OF APPROPRIATIONS
25 Except as otherwise provided by law, no official of the city of Gardner shall
26 knowingly or intentionally expend in a fiscal year sums in excess of the
27 appropriations, awards, grants or gifts duly made in accordance with law or
28 involve the city in any contract for the future payment of money in excess of
29 such appropriations, awards, grants or gifts. rt is the intention of this section

27



I that section 31 of chapter 44 of the General Laws shall be strictly enforced.
2 Any official who violates this section shall be personally liable to the city for
3 any amounts so expended to the extent that the city does not recover these
4 amounts from the person to wham the sums were paid.
5

6 ARTICLE 7

7 ELECTIONS

S

9 SECTION 7-1: PRELIMINARY ELECTIONS
10 A preliminary election to nominate candidates for mayor, councilor-at-large,
11 ward city councilor, and school committee members shall be held on the
12 third Tuesday in September in each odd-numbered year in which the
13 candidates are to be elected, but the city clerk may, with the approval of the
14 city council, reschedule the preliminary election to the fourth Tuesday in
15 September to avoid a conflict with any civil or religious holiday. Whenever a
16 special election to fill a vacancy is to be held, a preliminary election shall be
17 conducted, if necessary, 28 days before the date established for the special
18 election; provided, however, that a preliminary election to fill a vacancy for
19 ward councilor shall be held only in the affected ward.
20

21 SECTION 7-2: PRELIMINARY ELECTION PROCEDURES
22 (a) Signature Requirements - The number of signatures of voters required to
23 place the name of a candidate on the official ballot to be used at a
24 preliminary election shall be as follows: for the office of mayor, not less than
25 200 certified signatures; for councilor at-large or school committee member,
26 not less than 100 certified signatures; for the office of ward city councilor,
27 not less than 75 certified signatures. Signatures of voters shall be made on a
28 form prescribed by the registrars of voters and shall be made available not
29 earlier than April 2 in each preliminary election year and those forms shall

28



I be submitted to the registrars of voters for certification of the names on or
2 before the fourteenth day preceding the date fixed for submission to the city
3 clerk. The forms shall be submitted to the city clerk on or before the close of
4 business on the forty-fifth day prior to the declared date of the preliminary
5 election. An individual may appear on the ballot for only 1 office at any
6 preliminary, regular or special city election.
7 (b) Ballot Position - The order in which names of candidates for each office
8 appear on the ballot shall be determined by a drawing, by lot, conducted by
9 the city clerk at least 40 days before the preliminary election. The drawing

10 shall be open to the public.
11 (c) Determination of Candidates - The 2 people who receive the highest
12 number of votes for nomination for an office at the preliminary election shall,
13 except as provided by subsection (d), be the sole candidates for that office
14 whose names shall be printed on the official ballot to be used at the regular
15 or special city election at which the office is to be voted upon and no
16 acceptance of a nomination shall be necessary to its validity. If 2 or more
17 persons are to be elected to the same office at the regular or special city
18 election, the several persons equal in number to twice the number to be
19 elected, receiving at such preliminary election the highest number of votes
20 for nomination for that office shall, except as provided by subsection Cd), be
21 the sole candidates for that office whose names shall be printed on the
22 official ballot. If the preliminary election results in a tie vote among
23 candidates for nomination receiving the lowest number of votes which would
24 entitle a person receiving the same to have that person’s name printed on
25 the official ballot for the election, all candidates participating in the tie vote
26 shall have their names printed on the official ballots, although in
27 consequence thereof there shall be printed on the ballots the names of
28 candidates exceeding twice the number to be elected.

29



I (d) Condition Making Preliminary Unnecessary - If at the expiration off the
2 time for filing statements of candidates for offices to be voted for at any
3 preliminary election, not more than twice as many such statements have
4 been flied with the city clerk for an office as are to be elected to such office,
5 the candidates whose statements have thus been flied shall be deemed to
6 have been nominated to the office and those candidates shall be voted on
7 for such office at the succeeding regular or special city election and the city
8 clerk shall not print those names on the ballot to be used at the preliminary
9 election and no other nomination to the office shall be made. If in

10 consequence it shall appear that no names are to be printed upon the official
11 ballot to be used at a preliminary election in the city, no preliminary election
12 shall be held.

13

14 SECTION 7-3 REGULAR CITY ELECTION
15 The regular city election shall be held on the first Tuesday following the first
16 Monday in November in each odd-numbered year.
17

18 SECTION 7-4: BALLOT POSITION, REGULAR CITY ELECTION
19 The order in which names of candidates for each office appear on the ballot
20 shall be determined by a drawing, by lot, conducted by the city clerk not
21 later than 7 days after the certification of the preliminary election results. In
22 the event that there is no preliminary election in advance of the regular city
23 election, the drawing shall be conducted on the fourth Tuesday in September
24 prior to the regular city election. In the event that there is no preliminary
25 election in advance of a special city election, the drawing shall be conducted
26 on the sixth Tuesday prior to the special city election. The drawing shall be
27 open to the public.

28

29

30



I SECTION 7-5: NON-PARTISAN ELECTIONS
2 API elections for city offices shall be non-partisan and election ballots shall be
3 printed without any party mark, emblem or other political designation.
4

5 SECTION 7-6: WARDS
6 The territory of the city shall be divided into 5 wards by the city clerk to
7 consist of nearly an equal number of inhabitants as it is possible to achieve
8 based on compact and contiguous territory, bounded as far as possible by
9 the center line of known streets or ways or by other well-defined limits. Each

10 ward shall be composed of voting precincts established under the General
11 Laws. The city council shall review these wards to ensure uniformity in the
12 number of inhabitants at least once every 10 years.
13

14 SECTION 7-7: APPLICATION OF STATE GENERAL LAWS
15 Except as otherwise expressly provided in this charter and authorized by
16 law, all city elections shall be governed by the General Laws relating to the
17 right to vote, the registration of voters, the nomination of candidates, voting
18 places, the conduct of preliminary, regular and special city elections, the
19 submission of charters, charter amendments and other propositions to the
20 voters, the counting of votes, the recounting of votes and the determination
21 of results.

22

23 ARTICLE 8

24 CITIZEN PARTICIPATION MECHANISMS
25

26 SECTION 8-1: CITIZEN INITIATIVE MEASURES
27 (a) Commencement - Initiative procedures shall be started by the filing of a
28 proposed initiative petition with the city clerk or the secretary of the school
29 committee. The petition shall be addressed to the city council or to the

31



I school committee, shall contain a request for the passage of a particular
2 measure which shall be set forth in full in the petition and shall be signed by
3 at least 250 voters. At least 25 signatures must be certified from each ward.
4 The petition shall be accompanied by an affidavit signed by 10 voters and
S containing their residential address stating those voters will constitute the
6 petitioners committee and be responsible for circulating the petition and
7 filing it in proper form.
8 (b) Referral to City Solicitor - The city clerk or the secretary of the school
9 committee shall, immediately following receipt of a proposed petition, deliver

10 a copy of the petition to the city solicitor. The city solicitor shall, within 15
I days following receipt of a copy of the petition, in writing, advise the city

12 council or the school committee and the city clerk whether the measure as
13 proposed may lawfully be proposed by the initiative process and whether, in
14 its present form, it may lawfully be adopted by the city council or the school
15 committee. If the opinion of the city solicitor is that the measure is not in
16 proper form, the reply shall state the reasons for this opinion, in full. A copy
17 of the opinion of the city solicitor shall be mailed to the members of the
8 petitioners committee.
19 (c) Submission to City Clerk - If the city solicitor determines that the petition
20 is in a proper form, the city clerk shall provide blank forms for the use of
21 subsequent signers and shall print at the top of each blank form a fair,
22 concise summary of the proposed measure, as determined by the city
23 solicitor, together with the names and addresses of the first 10 voters who
24 signed the originating petition. The city clerk shall notify the first 10 voters
25 that the blank forms are issued. Within 30 days following the date of the
26 notice, the petition shall be returned and filed with the city clerk signed by at
27 least 10 per cent of the total number of registered voters as of the date of
28 the most recent regular city election. Signatures to an initiative petition need
29 not all be on 1 paper, but all papers pertaining to any 1 measure shall be

32



I fastened together and shall be flIed as a single instrument, with the
2 endorsement on it of the name and address of the person designated as
3 filing the papers. With each signature on the petition there shall also appear
4 the street and number of the residence of each signer. Within 10 days
5 following the filing of the petition, the registrars of voters shall ascertain the
6 number of voters that signed the petition and the percentage that number is
7 of the total number of voters as of the date of the most recent regular city
8 election. The registrars of voters shall attach to the petition a certificate
9 showing the results of its examination and shall return the petition to the

10 city clerk or the secretary of the school committee, depending on how the
11 petition is addressed. A copy of the registrars of voters’ certificate shall also
12 be mailed to the members of the petitioners committee.
13 (d) Action on Petitions - Within 30 days following the date a petition has
14 been returned to the city clerk or the secretary of the school committee and
15 after publication under subsection (f), the city council or the school
16 committee shall act with respect to each initiative petition by passing it
17 without change, by passing a measure which is stated to be in lieu of the
18 initiative measure or by rejecting it. The passage of a measure which is in
19 lieu of an initiative measure shall be deemed to be a rejection of the
20 initiative measure. If the city council or the school committee fails to act
21 within 30 days following the date the measure is returned to it, the measure
22 shall be deemed to have been rejected on the thirtieth day. If an initiative
23 measure is rejected, the city clerk or the secretary of the school committee
24 shall promptly give notice of that fact to the petitioners committee by
25 certified mail.

26 (e) Supplementary Petitions - Within 60 days following the date an initiative
27 petition has been rejected, a supplemental initiative petition may be filed
28 with the city clerk or the secretary of the school committee, but only by
29 persons constituting the original petitioners committee. The supplemental

33



I initiative petition shall be signed by a number of additional voters equal to at
2 least 5 per cent of the total number of registered voters as of the date of the
3 most recent regular city election. The signatures on the initial petition filed
4 under subsection (c) and the signatures on the supplemental petition flied
5 under this subsection, taken together, shall contain the signatures of at least
6 15 per cent of the total number of registered voters as of the date of the
7 most recent regular city election. If the number of signatures to this
8 supplemental petition is found to be sufficient by the city clerk, the city
9 council shall call a special election to be held on a date not less than 35 nor

10 more than 90 days following the date of the certificate of the city clerk that a
11 sufficient number of registered voters have signed the supplemental
12 initiative petition and shall submit the proposed measure, without alteration,
13 to the voters for determination, but if a city election is to be held within 120
14 days following the date of the certificate, the city council may omit calling
15 the special election and cause the question to appear on the election ballot
16 at the approaching election for determination by the voters.
17 (f) Publication - The full text of an initiative measure which is submitted to
18 the voters shall be published in at least 1 local newspaper not less than 7
19 nor more than 14 days preceding the date of the election at which the
20 question is to be voted upon. Additional copies of the full text shall be
21 available for distribution to the public in the office of the city clerk.
22 (g) Form of Question - The ballots used when voting on a measure proposed
23 by the voters under this section shall contain a question in substantially the
24 following form:

25 Shall the following measure which was proposed by an initiative petition take
26 effect?

27 (Here insert the fair, concise summary of the proposed measure, as
28 determined by the city solicitor as referenced in subsection (c)).
29 oYESoNO

34



I (h) Time of Taking Effect — Subject to section 9-4, if a majority of the votes
2 cast on the question is in the affirmative, the measure shall be deemed to be
3 effective immediately, unless a later date is specified in the measure.
4

5 SECTION 8-2: CITIZEN REFERENDUM PROCEDURES
6 (a) Petition, Effect on Final Vote - If, within 21 days following the date on
7 which the city council or the school committee has voted finally to approve
8 any measure, a petition signed by a number of voters equal to at least 15
9 per cent of the total number of voters as of the date of the most recent

10 regular city election and addressed to the city council or to the school
H committee, protesting against the measure or any part of it is filed with the
12 secretary of the school committee or city clerk, the effective date of that
13 measure shall be temporarily suspended. The school committee or the city
14 council shall immediately reconsider its vote on the measure or part of it
15 and, if the measure is not rescinded, the city council shall provide for the
16 submission of the question for a determination by the voters either at a
17 special election, which it may call at its convenience, within such time as
18 may be requested by the school committee or at the next regular city
19 election; provided, however, that pending this submission and
20 determination, the effect of the measure shall continue to be suspended.
21 (b) Certain Initiative Provisions to Apply - The petition described in this
22 section shall be termed a referendum petition and section 9-1, as the section
23 relates to the filing and certification of signatures, shall apply to such
24 referendum petitions, except that the words “measure or part thereof
25 protested against” shall be deemed to replace the word “measure” and the
26 word “referendum” shall be deemed to replace the word “initiative”. Subject
27 to section 9-5, the measure or part thereof protested against shall be null
28 and void unless a majority of those voting on the question shall vote in favor
29 of the measure or part thereof protested against at the election.

35



I SECTION 8-3: INELIGIBLE MEASURES
2 None of the following shall be subject to the initiative or the referendum
3 procedures:

4 (1) proceedings relating to the internal organization or operation of the city
5 council or of the school committee;
6 (2) an emergency measure adopted under the charter;
7 (3) the city budget or the school committee budget as a whole;
8 (4) any appropriation for the payment of the city’s debt or debt service;
9 (5) an appropriation of funds to implement a collective bargaining

10 agreement;

n (6) proceedings relating to the appointment, removal, discharge,
12 employment, promotion, transfer, demotion or other personnel action;
13 (7) any proceedings repealing or rescinding a measure or part of it which is
14 protested by referendum procedures;
15 (8) any proceedings providing for the submission or referral to the voters at
16 an election; and

17 (9) resolutions and other votes constituting ordinary, routine matters not
18 suitable as the subject of a referendum petition.
19

20 SECTION 8-4 RECALL

21 (a) Application - Any holder of an elected office in the city, with more than 6
22 months remaining in the term of office for which the officer was elected,
23 may be recalled therefrom by the voters of the city in the manner provided
24 in this section. No recall petition shall be Filed against an officer within 6
25 months after taking office.
26 (b) Recall Petition - A recall petition may be initiated by the filing of an
27 affidavit containing the name of the officer sought to be recalled and a
28 statement of the grounds for recall, provided that the affidavit is signed by
29 at least 500 voters for the office of mayor or councilor-at-large and at least

36



1 300 voters for any other elected official. The city clerk shall thereupon
2 deliver to those voters making the affidavit, copies of petition blanks
3 demanding such recall, copies of which printed forms the city clerk shall
4 keep available. The blanks shall be issued by the city clerk, with signature
5 and official seal attached thereto. The blanks shall be dated, shall be
6 addressed to the city council and shall contain the names of all the persons
7 to whom the blanks are issued, the number of blanks so issued, the name of
8 the person whose recall is sought, the office from which removal is sought
9 and the grounds of recall as stated in the affidavit. A copy of the petition

10 shall be entered in a record book to be kept in the office of the city clerk.
H Said recall petition shall be returned and filed with the city clerk within 28
12 days after the filing of the affidavit, and shall have been signed by at least
13 20 percent of the voters of the city for any officer elected at large and signed
14 by at least 20 percent of the voters of the ward for an officer elected by
15 ward. The city clerk shall submit the petition to the registrars of voters and
16 the registrars shall, within 5 days, certify thereon the number of signatures
17 which are names of voters.
18 Cc) Recall Election - If the petition shall be found and certified by the city
19 clerk to be sufficient, the city clerk shall submit the same with such
20 certificate to the city council within 5 days, and the city council shall give
21 written notice of the receipt of the certificate to the officer sought to be
22 recalled and shall, if the officer does not resign within 5 days thereafter,
23 order an election to be held on a date fixed by the city council not less than
24 64 days and not more than go days after the date of the city clerk’s
25 certificate that a sufficient petition has been filed; provided, however, that if
26 any other city election is to occur within 120 days after the date of the
27 certificate, the city council shall postpone the holding of the recall election to
28 the date of such other election. If a vacancy occurs in said office after a

37



I recall election has been ordered, the election shall not proceed as provided
2 in this section.

3 (d) Office Holder - The incumbent shall continue to perform the duties of the
4 office until the recall election. If said incumbent is not recalled, the
5 incumbent shall continue in office for the remainder of the unexpired term
6 subject to recall as provided in (f) below. If recalled, the officer shall be
7 deemed removed and the office vacant. The vacancy created thereby shall
8 be filled under articles 2, 3, and 4 of this charter for filling vacancies in such
9 office. A person chosen to fill the vacancy caused by a recall shall hold office

10 until the next regular city election. Should the person be a candidate in the
11 subsequent election, that person will not be allowed to have “candidate for
12 re-election” appear on the ballot at such election.
13 (e) Ballot Proposition - The form of the question to be voted upon shall be
14 substantially as follows: “Shall [here insert the name and title of the elective
15 officer whose recall is sought] be recalled?” Yes No
16 If a majority of the votes cast upon the question of recall is in the
17 affirmative, such elected officer shall be recalled.
18 (f) Repeat of Recall - In the case of an officer subjected to a recall election
19 and not recalled thereby, no recall petition shall be filed against such officer
20 until at least 270 days after the election at which the officer’s recall was
21 submitted to the voters of the city.
22 (g) Office Holder Recalled - No person who has been recalled from an office
23 or who has resigned from office while recall proceedings were pending
24 against such person, shall be appointed to any city office within 2 years after
25 such recall or such resignation.
26

27 SECTION 8-5: REQUIRED VOTER PARTICIPATION
28 For any measure to be effective under initiative procedure and for any
29 measure to be declared null and void under a referendum procedure and for

38



I any recall election, at least 20 per cent of the voters as of the most recent
2 regular city election must vote at an election that includes on the ballot
3 submission to the voters of 1 or more initiative or referendum or recall
4 questions. For recall of a ward councilor, 20 per cent of the affected ward’s
5 voters must vote.

6

7 SECTION 8-6: SUBMISSION OF OTHER MATTERS TO VOTERS
8 The city council may on its own motion and shall at the request of the school
9 committee, if a measure originates with that body and pertains to affairs

10 under its jurisdiction, submit to the voters at a regular city election for
it adoption or rejection a measure in the same manner and with the same
12 force and effect as are provided for submission by initiative or referendum
13 petitions.

14

15 SECTION 8-7: CONFLICTING PROVISIONS
16 If 2 or more measures passed at the same election contain conflicting
17 provisions, only the 1 receiving the greatest number of affirmative votes
18 shall take effect.

19

20 ARTICLE 9

21 GENERAL PROVISIONS

22

23 SECTION 9-1: CHARTER CHANGES
24 This charter may be replaced, revised or amended in accordance with any
25 procedure made available under the state constitution or by the General
26 Laws.

27

28

29

39

I;



I SECTION g-2: SPECIFIC PROVISION TO PREVAIL
2 To the extent that a specific provision of this charter conflicts with any
3 provision expressed in general terms, the specific provision of the charter
4 shall prevail.

5

6 SECTION 9-3: RULES AND REGULATIONS
7 A copy of all rules and regulations adopted by a city agency shall be placed
8 on file in the office of the city clerk not later than the effective date of the
9 rule or regulation and shall be available for review by any person who

10 requests such information at any reasonable time. Unless an emergency
11 exists, as determined by the mayor, no rule or regulation adopted by a city
12 agency shall become effective until at least 5 days following the date it is
13 flied.

14

15 SECTION 9-4: PERIODIC REVIEW OF ORDINANCES
16 Not later than July 1, at 5-year intervals, in each year ending in a 5 or in a
17 0, the mayor and city council shall provide for a review to be made of some
18 or all of the ordinances of the city to prepare a proposed revision or
19 recodification of them. This review shall be made by a special committee to
20 be established by ordinance. All members of the committee shall be voters
21 of the city. The special committee shall file its report with the city clerk at a
22 date specified by ordinance. The review of city ordinances shall be under the
23 supervision of the city solicitor.
24

25 SECTION 9-5: PERIODIC REVIEW OF CHARTER
26 Not later than July 1, at 10-year intervals, in each year ending in a 3, the
27 mayor and city council shall provide for a review to be made of the city
28 charter. This review shall be made by a special committee whose
29 composition and term shall be determined by ordinance, provided however,

40



I that members of the committee shall be voters of the city but shall not hold
2 any elected or appointed office or position within the city. The special
3 committee shall file its report with the city clerk at a date specified by
4 ordinance. Copies of any recommendations shall be made available to the
5 public at a cost not to exceed the actual cost of the reproduction.
6

7 SECTION 9-6: UNIFORM PROCEDURES GOVERNING MULTIPLE-MEMBER
8 BODIES

9 (a) Officers — All appointed multiple-member bodies shall elect a chair, a
10 vice-chair and a secretary and any other officer it deems necessary.
11 (b) Meetings - All appointed multiple-member bodies of the city shall meet
12 regularly at the times and places that the multiple-member body, by the
13 body’s own rules, prescribe. Special meetings of any multiple-member body
14 shall be held at the call of the chair or by a majority of the members of the
15 body. Notice of the meeting shall be posted as required by law. Except as
16 may otherwise be authorized by law, all meetings of all multiple-member
17 bodies shall at all times be open to the public.
18 (c) Meeting Documents and Submissions - Each appointed multiple-member
19 body shall determine its own rules and order of business. Each multiple-
20 member body shall provide for the keeping of agendas, minutes and related
21 submissions of its proceedings. All such documents shall be a public record
22 and certified copies shall be placed on flle in the office of the city clerk within
23 a reasonable period from the date of approval.
24 (d) Voting - If requested by a member, or as otherwise required, a vote of
25 an appointed multiple-member body shall be taken by a roll call vote and the
26 vote of each member shall be recorded in the minutes, but if the vote is
27 unanimous, only that fact need be recorded.
28 (e) Quorum - A majority of the members of an appointed multiple-member
29 body shall constitute a quorum. Unless some other provision is made by the

41



I multiple-member body’s own rules while a quorum is present, except on
2 procedural matters, a majority of the full membership of the body shall be
3 required to vote on any matter representing an exercise of the powers of the
4 multiple-member body. General Laws related to a vote to meet in “executive
5 session” shall always require a majority of members of the body.
6

7 SECTION 9-7: REFERENCES TO GENERAL LAWS
8 All references to General Laws contained in the charter refer to the General
9 Laws of the commonwealth and are intended to refer to and to include any

10 amendments or revisions to such chapters or sections or to the
11 corresponding chapters and sections of any rearrangement, revision or
12 recodification of such statutes enacted or adopted subsequent to the
13 adoption of this charter.
‘4

15 SECTION 9-8: COMPUTATION OF TIME
16 In computing time under this charter the day of the act or event after which
17 the designated period of time begins to run shall not be included. The last
18 day of the period shall be included, unless it is a Saturday, Sunday or legal
19 holiday, in which event the period shall be extended to the next day which is
20 not a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday. When the period of time designated
21 is fewer than 7 days, intermediate Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays
22 shall not be included, when the period is 7 days or more, Saturdays,
23 Sundays and legal holidays shall be included.
24

25 SECTION 9-9: OATHS OR AFFIRMATIONS FOR THE OFFICE OF MAYOR, CITY
26 COUNCIL, SCHOOL COMMITTEE, CITY CLERK
27 A mayor-elect, the city council members-elect, and the school committee
28 members-elect shall, on the first Monday in the January of each even
29 numbered year, meet and take an oath or affirmation to the faithful

42



I discharge of the duties of their office by the city clerk. If the first Monday in
2 January of such even-numbered years fails on a legal holiday, the oaths or
3 affirmations shall be taken on the following day. Upon receiving the oath or
4 affirmation, each official shall document the same by signing an oath or
5 affirmation that shall be kept in a bound book maintained by the city clerk.
6 In the case of the absence of the mayor-elect or any member-elect of the
7 city council or school committee on the day the oath is administered, the
S oath or affirmation may at any time thereafter be administered to that
9 person by the city clerk, the assistant city clerk, a judge of a court of record

10 or by a justice of the peace. Modifications to this section may be prescribed
11 by ordinance.

12

13 SECTION 9-10: CERTIFICATE OF ELECTION OR APPOINTMENT
14 Every person who is elected or appointed to an office or as a member of a
15 multiple-member body shall receive a certificate of that election or
16 appointment from the city clerk. Except as otherwise provided by law, every
17 person who is elected or appointed to an office or as a member of a
18 multiple-member body, before performing any act under this election or
19 appointment, shall take and subscribe to an oath or affirmation to qualify to
20 enter upon the duties. A record of this oath or affirmation shall be kept by
21 the city clerk.

22

23 SECTION 9-11: LIMITATION ON OFFICE HOLDING
24 Unless otherwise allowed by law or this charter, no person shall
25 simultaneously hold more than 1 city office or position of employment. This
26 section may be waived by the mayor upon the appointment of a person to
27 an additional office or position of employment by filing a notice of the waiver
28 with an explanation and justification with the city clerk.
29

43



I SECTION 9-12: FELONY CONVICTION
2 An elected official who has been convicted of a state or federal felony while
3 holding office shall be deemed to have vacated the office.
4

5 SECTION 9-13: ENFORCEMENT OF CHARTER PROVISIONS
6 It shall be the duty of the mayor to see that the charter is faithfully followed
7 and complied with by all city agencies and city employees. Whenever it
8 appears to the mayor that a city agency or city employee is failing to follow
9 this charter the mayor shalt, in writing, cause notice to be given to that

10 agency or employee directing compliance with the charter. If it shall appear
11 to the city council that the mayor personally is not following the charter the
12 city council shall, by resolution, direct the attention of the mayor to those
13 areas in which it believes there is a failure to comply with the charter. The
14 procedures made available in chapter 231A of the General Laws may be
15 used to determine the rights, duties, status or other le9al relations arising
16 under this charter, including any question of construction or validity which
17 may be involved in such determination.
18

19 ARTICLE 10

20 TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS
21

22 SECTION 10-1: CONTINUATION OF EXISTING LAWS
23 All general or special laws, city ordinances and rules and regulations of or
24 pertaining to the city of Gardner, including special acts creating regional
25 entities and arrangements of which the city is a member, that are in force
26 when this charter takes effect, and not specifically or by implication repealed
27 by this charter, shall continue in full force and effect until amended or
28 repealed, rescinded by law or until they expire by their own limitation. In
29 any case in which this charter is found to be inconsistent with any general or

44



i special law that would otherwise be applicable, this charter shall be deemed
2 to prevail. Every inconsistency between the prior law and this charter shall
3 be decided in favor of this charter.
4

5 SECTION 10-2: CONTINUATION OF GOVERNMENT AND ADMINISTRATION
6 Except as specifically provided for in this charter, all city agencies shall
7 continue to perform the duties of the agency until re-elected, reappointed or
8 until successors to the respective positions are duly appointed or elected or
9 until the duties have been transferred and assumed by another city agency.

10

ii SECTION 10-3: TRANSFER OF RECORDS AND PROPERTY
12 All records, property and equipment of a city agency, or part thereof, the
13 powers and duties of which are assigned in whole or in part to another city
14 agency, shall be transferred immediately to that agency.
15

16 SECTION 10-4: EFFECT ON OBLIGATIONS
17 All official bonds, recognizance, obligations, contracts and other instruments
18 entered into or executed by or to the city before the adoption of this charter
19 and all taxes, assessments, fines, penalties and forfeitures, incurred or
20 imposed, due or owing to the city, shall be enforced and collected and all
21 writs, prosecutions, actions and causes of action, except as otherwise
22 provided in this charter, shall continue without abatement and remain
23 unaffected by the charter. No legal act done by or in favor of the city shall
24 be rendered invalid by reason of the adoption of this charter.
25

26 SECTION XX. This charter shall take effect upon its ratification by the voters
27 and in accordance with the following schedule:

45



1 (1) All city officers and employees shall continue to perform the duties of the
2 office in the same manner and to the same extent as previously performed
3 prior to the ratification by the voters of this charter.
4 (2) The first election of officers under this charter shall be held on November
5 3, 2015, to elect a mayor for a 4-year term, members of the city council for
6 2-year terms, and 3 members of the school committee for 4-year terms. The
7 3 members of the school committee elected at the 2013 regular city election
S shall continue to hold office for the remainder of the terms for which they
9 were elected. A preliminary election nominating candidates to be elected

10 shall be held on September 15, 2015, if necessary, under article 7 of the
11 charter.

12 (3) On January 4, 2016 the persons elected in November 2015 shall be
13 sworn to the faithful performance of their duties.
14 (4) Not later than 30 days following the date of the ratification of this charter
15 by the voters, the city clerk shall give to each member of the general court
16 who represents the city of Gardner or a portion thereof a copy of the vote
17 ratifying this charter.

18 (5) Immediately after the election at which this charter is adopted, the city
19 council shall appoint 4 persons to a committee to begin a review of the city
20 ordinances to prepare such revisions and amendments as may be needed or
21 necessary to bring the ordinances into conformity with the charter and to
22 fully implement the charter. The city clerk shall be the fifth member of that
23 committee. The committee shall submit a report, with recommendations,
24 within 1 year following its establishment and may submit interim reports
25 with recommendations at any time; and provided, further that the city
26 solicitor, or special counsel appointed for this express purpose, shall serve as
27 an advisor to the committee.
28 (6) Not later than September 30, 2015, the mayor shall promulgate a series
29 of administrative orders under article 5 of the charter.

46



1 (7) Until such time as modified under article 5 of the charter, chapter 511 of
2 the acts of 1991 relative to the terms of the license commissioners shall
3 remain if effect.

4 (8) Until such time as another level of compensation is established under the
5 charter, the initial compensation for the mayor, city councilors and school
6 committee members shall be that which is in effect on the date of the 2013
7 regular city election.

8 (9) The mayor and the city council in office at time this charter is adopted
9 and the mayor and successor city council elected under this charter, may

10 adopt measures that clarify, confirm or extend any of the transitional
n provisions in order that the transition may be made in the most expeditious
12 manner possible; provided, that such authority shall not extend beyond 5
13 years from the date of voter approval of this act.
14

15 SECTION XX. The following question shall be placed on the ballot to be used
16 at a special city election to be held in the city of Gardner concurrently with
17 the biennial state election on November 4, 2014: Shall an act entitled “An
18 Act Revising the Charter for the City of Gardner” be accepted?
19 The city solicitor shall prepare the summary of the proposed special act
20 charter which shall appear on the ballot along with the question provided in
21 this section.

22 If a majority of votes cast in answer to the question is in the affirmative, the
23 city shall be taken to have accepted the charter of the city of Gardner, but
24 not otherwise.

25

26 SECTION XX. This act shall take effect upon its passage.

47



N
J

C U
,
r D

i

CD s
o

(
D

O D
i

a
’

r
t B 0 D r
t



CITY OF GARDNER
LAW DEPARTMENT

John M Hick
143 Central Street, Suite 201City Solicitor 1 Gardner, MA014409flic

Jill A kornur
— ‘ Te’ephone (978) 632-7948Assistant Cu’ Solicitor

191111 3 P19 5 09 Fax (978) 630 3703

Writer’s EmuI’
OLE

C D Th
March 3,2015

WA HAND DELIVERY

James Walsh, President
Gardner City Council
City of Gardner
95 Pleasant Street
Gardner, MA 01440

Re: Law Department Charter Review for the City of Gardner

Dear President Walsh:

The Law Department has been asked to perform a comprehensive legal review of the existingCity Charter of the City of Gardner (“Charter”). Specifically the Law Department has beenasked to provide a section by section legal review identifying any provisions which are
“obsolete, in conflict with state or federal law, or otherwise unenforceable.”

This analysis does not address stylistic changes which may be appropriate given the fact that thecurrent Charter was drafted almost one hundred years ago. Notation is made of those sectionswhich are merely historical or relate to the initial procedure employed in adopting the Charter.Such sections are eligible for updating in any proposed re-write or amendment to the existingCharter as they may now be obsolete.

Massachusetts has long recognized each municipality’s right to self-governance. However, thisright does not exist, except for the blessing of the Commonwealth’s legislative body, the GeneralCourt. See Bd ofAppeals ofHanover v Notes. Appeals Comm. in Dep’t ofCmty. Affairs, 363Mass. 339, 356 (1973) (“What the State gave, it could also take away because ‘the towns of the
Commonwealth possess no inherent right to self-government.”) The power resides in the
General Court to “erect and constitute municipal or city governments.” See Paddock v. Town ofBrookline, 347 Mass. 230, 237-38 (1964). However, the power to control local municipal
governments is limited; such control by the state legislature must be ‘for the good and welfare of
[the] commonwealth.” Id at 239.



Gardner City Council
Charter Review

Page 2
In 1966, the Massachusetts Declaration of Rights was amended to codi’ the right of
municipalities to engage in self-government for “essentially local matters.” This amendment,
known as the Home Rule Amendment (the “HRA”) firmly established “the customary and
traditional liberties of the people with respect to the conduct of their local government, and togrant and confirm to the people of every city and town the right of self-government in local
matters, subject to the provisions of this article and to such standards and requirements as the
general court may establish by law in accordance with the provisions of this article.” Mass.
Const. Amend Art. 2, § 1.

This power includes the power to adopt, amend, and revise municipal charters. Mass. Cons!.
Amend. Art. 2, § 2. However, any such charter must be consistent with the constitution and thelaws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. Ii Furthermore, the HRA does provide for
certain categories of laws that may not be governed by municipal charters. These include
elections (other than local elections), taxes, borrowing, disposal of park land, private laws
governing civil relationships, and defining felonies, or imposing imprisonment. Mass. Const.
Amend Art. 2, § 7. The limitation on ejections does not include elections to adopt charter
commissions or approve revisions to charters.

On its face, the Charter can be perceived as a simple document, however, when viewed in the
context of the complexity of state and federal laws, the Charter itself becomes more complex. In
light of the voluminous nature of the state and federal laws which may have some limited impacton the Charter, an exhaustive and detailed review of every potentially relevant state or federalstatute or regulation is not feasible. Therefore, the Charter was reviewed in the context of certainapplicable Massachusetts constitutional standards and existing state law. While certain sectionsof the existing charter require little comment, others are worthy of more robust discussion.
Nevertheless, a serious attempt has been made, in the interest of brevity, to dispense with lengthy
dissertations more appropriate for legal scholarly discourse.

There are certain general principles which must guide the review and revision process of any
municipal charter. First and foremost, is the standing principle that a municipal charter has theforce of law except when it contradicts with an existing state law. See Kowalezyk v. Town ofBlacksione, 48 Mass. App. Ct. 58, 59(1999) (“Municipal charters duly adopted in accordance
with G.L. c. 43B have the effect of law so long as they present no conflict with laws enacted bythe Legislature.”) To the extent that a municipal charter provision simply restates a matter which
is addressed by Massachusetts law, such provision is superfluous as the state law will control.
Nevertheless, a municipal charter, at the local level, is analogous to the state or federal
constitution; all other local ordinances are subservient to the municipal charter.

Of primary importance in a municipal charter is the structure of the legislative and executive
branches of local government and assurances that there is an appropriate separation of these
branches. Such a separation of powers is essential to the efficient and effective operation of



Gardner City Council
Charter Review

Page 3
local govermnent. The City of Gardner, in the original adoption of its Charter established a PlanB form of government organized in accordance with M.G.L. c. 43, § 56— 63. Ma Plan B city,the mayor is the Chief Executive Officer, and the City Council is the legislative body. See
MG.L. c. 43, §‘ 58 & 59. Thus the mayor’s office is limited in its function to the executive
functions of government, as the city council is limited in its function to the legislative functions
of government. As the chief executive officer, a mayor of a Plan B city is considered a “weakmayor.” However, this designation simply refers to the mayor’s power of appointment. See
MG.L. c. 43, § 52. In all other respects the executive authority of a mayor, and the legislative
authority of a city council in a Plan A and Plan B city, are the same.

Undergirding the separation of powers is Article 30 of the Massachusetts Declaration of Rights,which states:

In the government of this commonwealth, the legislative department shall never
exercise the executive and judicial powers, or either of them: the executive shall
never exercise the legislative and judicial powers, or either of them: the judicial
shall never exercise the legislative and executive powers, or either of them: to the
end it may be a government of laws and not of men. Mass, Const. Pt. I, art. flY
see also In re Opinion oft/ic Justices to the Governor, 369 Mass. 990,992(1976)
(“The concept of separation of powers is fundamental to our form of government,
and is embodied in art. 30 of the Declaration of Rights.”)

This separation of powers and the principle that no branch of government shall ever
exercise the function of another is fimdamental to our democratic form of government,
and essential to the effective and efficient work of government.

I now direct your attention to the analysis of each section of the Charter.

SECTION 1

Section 1 is predominantly introductory and historical. Those aspects declaring the City ofGardner as a “body corporate and politic” do have legal significance and do not require anychange at this time.

SECTION 2

Section 2 is largely procedural and historical and is, therefore, obsolete. This action has been
completed and is no longer necessary as a substantive provision within the Charter. Those aspectof Section 2 which establish the number of Wards and the procedure for dividing the City intoWards are appropriate and necessary and could be revised for stylistic reasons.



Gardner City Council
Charter Review

Page 4
SECTION 3

Section 3 is largely procedural and historical and is, therefore, obsolete. This action has been
completed and is no longer necessary as a substantive provision within the Charter.

SECTION 4

There is nothing in Section 4 that is, per se, unlawfiil or obsolete. It is relevant to point out thatM.G.L. c. 43, §58 provides for a two year term for a mayor in a Plan B city. Therefore, the
current Charter language does not conflict with current Massachusetts law. There may be valid
reasons to expand this term, however, such discussions are left to public and legislative
discourse.

SECTION 5

There is nothing in Section 5 that is, per se, unlawihl or obsolete. It is relevant to point out thatM.G.L. c. 43, §59 provides for a two year term for city councilors in a Plan B city. Therefore,
the current Charter language does not conflict with current Massachusetts law.

SECTION 6

Section 6 is, in part, incongruous with current Massachusetts law in respect to the appointment ofthe City Auditor and the City Treasurer. These issues are discussed in more detail below in therelevant sections discussing the appointment process of these Department Heads.

SECTION 7

Other than stylistic changes to update the language in Section 7, no changes are necessary.

SECTION 8

Section 8 does not in its entirety contradict any current state law. It should be noted that anyhearing conducted in accordance with Section 8 must be conducted in strict compliance with the
Open Meeting Law. Section 7 of the Charter also has to be implemented in conjunction with
Section 8 of the Charter. The relationship between these two sections is discussed below.

SECTION 9

Section 9 does, in part, contradict current Massachusetts case law. While there is no statute, per
se, which defines specific municipal employees as “executive” or “legislative,” Massachusetts
courts have looked to the functions of various municipal officials in determining the appropriate
branch of government in which certain municipal officers belong. There is little question that the
City Clerk is a legislative office and should be appointed by the City Council without approval ofthe mayor. See Chy ofSomerville v. Labor Relations Comrn’n, 53 Mass. App. Ct. 410 (2001).
However, the same cannot be said for the City Auditor and the City Treasurer/Collector



Gardner City Council
Charter Review

Page 5
positions. As stated by the Massachusetts Department of Revenue in its 2008 Financial
Management Review of the City of Gardner: “Daily management of finances in a city is a core
executive flmction.” See City ofGardner Financial Management Review, p. 6 (2008). It should
not go wmoticed that the first recommendation of the Department of Revenue in this report was
to Improve the Coordination of Financial Functions. This recommendation consisted of two
parts, 1) that the mayor establish a financial management team, and 2) that the city grant the
mayor’s office appointment authority over all financial offices. Id. This recommendation is
supported by Massachusetts case law holding that the function of the auditor is executive not
legislative. King v. Mayor ofQuincy, 270 Mass. 185, 187 (1930) (“Intrinsically the functions of
an auditor of accounts of a city are executive and administrative rather than legislative.”) The
shifting of the auditor and treasurer/collector appointments from the legislative branch to the
executive branch would also eliminate the violation of the separation of powers inherent in the
current appointment process.

The City of Gardner has two branches of government, the legislative branch and the executive
branch. Each City Department is categorized as executive or legislative deepening on the
function of the various departments. Based on the current structure of the City’s Departments,
all functions of financial management fall under the legislative branch of government when the
flmctions of these offices clearly belong to the executive branch. The City Council has both the
appointment authority for the primary financial officers in the City, and the sole authority to
remove these officers. See City ofGardner Charter, Section 8. The current
appointment/removal process for the auditor and treasurer/collector, therefore, allows the
legislative branch of government to exercise an inordinate amount of control over the executive
functions of government. Since the City Council has appointment authority and the authority to
remove persons from these positions, the persons holding these positions answer only to the City
Council as their appointing authority.

It follows, therefore, that the City Council, as the appointing authority, is responsible for
overseeing and managing the day to day activities of the municipal officers it appoints and
implementing disciplinary and other corrective action when necessary. Thus, it is the appointing
authority that can control the tasks, methods, and performance of these municipal offices. Since
these are essentially executive offices, the City Council has the potential to completely control
and interfere in the executive financial management of the City. This is a violation of
Massachusetts law. “It is when [the legislature] attempts to interfere with action taken by the
executive department. . . and thus to project itself into a field of action which belongs to another
department, that art. 30 of the Declaration of Rights is violated.” Opinion ofthe Justices to the
Senate, 375 Mass. 827, 841,3 (1978).

It is important to review and determine the salient functions of each position to determine its
proper place within the branches of municipal government. The MA Department of Revenue,
being the regulatory agency which oversees municipal finance matters is in a unique position to



Gardner City Council
Charter Review

Page 6
conduct this analysis. Much weight, therefore, should be given to the recommendations made by
the Department of Revenue in its 2008 Financial Management Review of the City of Gardner.

SECTION 10

Section lOis self-limiting. The council’s power to take any steps in compliance with Section 10
is limited in that all such action must be done in compliance with Massachusetts law. There is,
therefore, nothing in Section 10 which conflicts with any Massachusetts statute.

SECTION 11

Section 11 appears to contradict Massachusetts law governing increases to the salaries of mayors
and elected councilors.

M.G.L. c. 39 sec. 6A titled Municipal Salaries; Increase and decreases; Procedure, provides, in
part:

Notwithstanding the provisions ofany city charter to the contrary, the mayor and
the members of the city council, or other legislative body of a city, shall receive
for their services such salary as the city council.. .shall by ordinance determine.

No increase or reduction in such salaries shall take effect during the year in
which such increase or reduction is voted, and no change in such ordinance shall
be made between the election of a new council .. .and the qualification of the new
council....” (e.g. between Nov. and Jan. immediately following a regular city
election).

M.G.L. c. 43 sec. 1 7A titled Salaries ofmayor, city manager and council provides,

rnpan:

The Mayor or city manager and the members of the city council shall receive for
their services such salary as the city council shall by ordinance determine... No
increase or reduction in the salaries of mayor or city councilors shall take effect
during the year in which such increase or reduction is voted, and no change in
such salaries shall be made between the election of a new council and the
qualification of the new council.

M.G.L. c. 44 sec.33A titled Salaryprovisions in Budget; requirements and limitations, provides:

The annual budget shall include sums sufficient to pay the salaries of officers and
employees fixed by law or by ordinance. Notwithstanding any contrary provision
ofany city charter, no ordinance providing for an increase in the salaries or wages
of municipal officers or employees shall be enacted except by two thirds vote, nor
unless it is to operative for more than three months during the calendar year in



Gardner City Council
Charter Review

Page 7
which it is passed.” (needs to be operative on or before September30 of the
calendar year in which it is passed).

Section 11 provides that:

The mayor shall receive for this services such salary as the city council by
ordinance shall determine and he shall receive no other compensation from the
city. His salary shall not be increased or diminished during the term for which he
is elected.

The council may, by a two thirds vote of all its members, taken by a call of the yeas and
nays, establish a salary for its members. Such salary may be reduced but no increase
therein shall be made to take effect during the year in which the increase is voted.

When the statutes and the Charter are read together, they appear to be contradictory. In fact, one
statute, M.G.L. c. 44, § 33A seems to stand out since it dictates that any increase in the salaries
of municipal officers or employees must be operative for three months of the year in which the
ordinance is passed. The intent of this requirement is so that the city council that passes the
increases bears some of the financial burden of the increases. Unfortunately the statute does not
define the terms municipal officer or employee. Both the Mayor and members of the City
Council are employees of the City. Therefore, it would appear on its face as though this statute
dictates requirements for the setting of the Mayor’s salary. It appears therefore, that any increase
in the mayor’s salary by ordinance must be operative for three months in the year in which the
ordinance is passed.

However, contrast this with M.G.L. c. 39, § 6A and M.G.L. c. 43, § hA which mandate that no
increase in the mayor’s or city council’s salaries shall be effective in the calendar year in which
the increase is passed and the City Charter which prohibits the increase (or decrease) of the
mayor’s salary during his or her term. Because of the language in M.G.L. c. 39, § 6A and
M.G.L. c. 43, § 17A which specifically apply to mayors and city councils, the only way to
reconcile M.G.L. c. 44, § 33A, which requires that increases in the salaries of officers and
employees fixed by ordinance “be operative for more than three months during the calendar year
in which it is passed” is to conclude that M.G.L. c. 44, § 33A does not apply to ordinances
setting the salaries of the mayor or city councilors. Admittedly there is no legal support for this
conclusion other than the specific language of M.G.L. c. 39, § 6A and M.G.L. c. 43, § 17A
which apply directly to salaries of mayors and city councilors and, therefore operates
independently of M.G.L. c. 44, § 33A.

It is the opinion of the Law Department, therefore, that the only way to address the mayor’s
salary and city councilors’ salaries without violating the Charter is to comply with M.G.L. c. 39,
§ 6A and M.G.L. c. 43, § l7A and ignore M.G.L. c. 44, § 33A. Therefore, there are two
prohibitions with which the City Council must comply when contemplating an increase in the
mayor’s or councilor’s salaries 1) M.G.L. c. 39, § 6A and M.G.L. c. 43, § 17A require that no



Gardner City Council
Charter Review

Page 8
increase or reduction in the mayor or city council salaries shall take effect during the year inwhich such increase or reduction is voted, and 2) the Charter prohibits changing the mayor’ssalary dwing the term for which he (or she) is elected. These statutes and the Charter can beapplied in a consistent manner. In order to do this, the Council can pass a change in the salary ofthe mayor and councilors any time between January after the new council has been elected andthe next council election, however the change cannot be effective until the beginning of the nextmayoral and council term. However, being cognizant of the principle set forth in M.G.L. c. 44, §33A that a city council cannot pass on a financial burden to a ifiture council of which it has notborn a portion, the City Council, in passing any measure increasing the mayoral or councilorsalaries should place a priority on meeting fill compliance with the statutory provisions to thedeference of the Charter.

SECTION 12

There is nothing within Section 12 which appears to conflict with state or federal law.

SECTION 13

There is nothing within Section 13 which appears to conflict with state or federal law.

SECTION 14

There is nothing within Section 14 which appears to conflict with state or federal law.

SECTION 15

There is nothing within Section 15 which appears to conflict with state or federal law.

SECTION 16

There is nothing within Section 16 which appears to conflict with state or federal law.

SECTION 17

There is nothing within Section 17 which appears to conflict with state or federaL law.

SECTION 18

There is nothing within Section 18 which appears to conflict with state or federal law.

SECTION 19

There is nothing within Section 19 which appears to conflict with state or federal law.

SECTION 20

There is nothing within Section 20 which appears to conflict with state or federal law.



Gardner City Council
Charter Review

Page 9
SECTION 21

While the establishment of the first city election is merely historical at this point, and therefore,
obsolete, there is nothing in Section 21 which appears to conflict with state or federal law. This
section is necessary to establish the day on which city elections are to be held.

SECTION 22

Local election is an inherent local matter and therefore, there is nothing unlawifil about Section
22 of the Charter.

SECTION 23

Local election is an inherent local matter and therefore, there is nothing unlawful about Section
23 of the Charter.

As set forth in Section 23, the oath of office is to be administered to the mayor-elect and city
councilors-elect on the first Monday in January after an election. If the mayor-elect, or a
councilor-elect is absent from that meeting the Charter allows the oath of office to be
administered at any meeting thereafter. This provision presents an interesting problem, since no
limitations are placed on the duration of the absence. However, to place a time limit on this
could result in a disenfranchisement of a person duly elected by the registered voters of Gardner.
On the other hand, leaving an office vacant for an extended period of time could disenfranchise a
group of voters who remain unrepresented for a long period of time. If this section is read in
conjunction with Section 32 of the Charter, procedures for filling a vacancy, the issue is further
complicated as the term “vacancy” is undefined in the Charter. M.G.L. c. 43, § 59A defines
vacancy as being the result of the death, removal, or resignation of the elected person. The
current charter provides no mechanism to remove a person elected as either mayor or councilor.
It is the opinion of the Law Department that the Charter should be amended to include removal
procedures in the event a duly elected person fails to take the oath of office for an extended
period of time in order to create a vacancy and invoke the procedures to fill such vacancy.

SECTION 24

There is nothing inherently unlawful about Section 24. However, it is problematic that Section
24 allows for the passage of ordinances to define how the legislative powers of the Council may
be exercised. Ordinances are subject to executive approval or veto. As such, this would be an
inappropriate encroachnient of the executive branch on the legislative branch. Please refer to the
above discussion on the separation of the branches of government for the legal basis.

SECTION 25

There is nothing inherently unlawful about Section 25. However, it must be noted that since the
adoption of the Charter, the Massachusetts legislature has passed laws defining public records



Gardner City Council
Charter Review Page 10
and establishing certain matters which are exempt from such public discourse. Therefore, a
mayor cannot be compelled to answer questions concerning information which has legally been
determined to be exempt from public disclosure and thus risk violating state or federal law in
doing so. By way of example, personnel records are recognized as being largely confidential as
are enrollment records and claim records for health insurance. Therefore, Section 25 cannot be
used to compel the mayor or another to disclose to the City Council the names of all health
insurance claimants and the nature of their claims. Such a disclosure would violate both
Massachusetts and Federal privacy laws.

SECTION 26

For the most part, the passage of an ordinance is a local matter. In certain circumstances the
legislature has passed statutes controlling specific categories of ordinances. For instance M.G.L.
c. 40A strictly controls how local zoning ordinances are passed and administered. The
procedures set forth in Section 26, and those following, to the extent that they contradict with
M.G.L. c. 40A are unenforceable. Each ordinance which the council seeks to pass should be
reviewed by legal counsel prior to formal action.

SECTION 27

Subject to any restrictions set forth in specific state Laws to the contrary (see discussion of
Section 26 above), there is nothing within Section 27 which appears to conflict with state or
federal law.

SECTION 28

Subject to any restrictions set forth in specific state laws to the contrary (see discussion of
Section 26 above), there is nothing within Section 28 which appears to conflict with state or
federal law.

SECTION 29

Subject to any restrictions set forth in specific state laws to the contrary (see discussion of
Section 26 above), there is nothing within Section 29 which appears to conflict with state or
federal law.

SECTION 30

There is nothing within Section 30 which appears to conflict with state or federal law.

SECTION 31

There is nothing within Section 31 which appears to conflict with state or federal law. However,
it must also be stated that the City Council has no authority to structure, determine, or otherwise
establish or abolish positions (see Section 10 of the Charter) within the mayor’s office. See



Gardner City Council
Charter Review Page 11
Boston City Council v. Menino, 2000 WL 744356 (2000). This legal restriction does not apply to
the appropriation of money to fund the positions within the mayor’s office.

SECTION 32

There is nothing within Section 32 which appears to conflict with state or federal law. However
see the discussion in Section 23 above which highlights the need to add provisions to the Charter
to address the lack of a definition of the term “vacancy.”

SECTION 33

Section 33 violates Massachusetts law in that the City of Gardner lacks any legal authority to
assess term of imprisonment pursuant to the NRA. Furthermore, state law has fully occupied the
area of conflicts of interests through the passage of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts ethics
laws and the application of those laws to all municipal employees. Therefore, this section is both
contradictory with existing state law, and it is also obsolete.

SECTION 34

All contracts which the City seeks to enter into, whether for goods or services are governed by
M.G.L. c. 30B. Therefore, Section 34 is obsolete.

SECTION 35

All contracts which the City seeks to enter into, whether for goods or services are governed by
M.G.L. c. 30B. There is nothing in Section 35 which is, per se, unlawful or obsolete. However,
any contracts entered into in accordance with Section 35 would be subject to the provisions of
M.G.L. c. 30B.

SECTION 36

Section 36 is self-limiting. The City Council’s power to take land by eminent domain in
compliance with Section 36 is limited in that all such action must be done in compliance with
M.G.L. c. 79. There is, therefore, nothing in Section 36 which conflicts with any Massachusetts
statute. The taldng of land by eminent domain is also heavily regulated by federal law and the
awarding of damages to persons displaced by such taking.

SECTION 37

There is nothing in Section 37 that is, per se, unlawful. The language in Section 37 which
discusses the first election of the first school committee is historical in nature and is, therefore,
obsolete.



Gardner City Council
Charter Review Page 12

SECTION 38

Language in Section 38 which makes provision for the civil set-vice appointment of certain
School Department employees is obsolete given that legislation has been passed removing
certain positions within the School Department from Civil Service. There are no Civil Service
positions within the School Department. Therefore this language is now obsolete.

SECTION 39

There is nothing in Section 39 that is, per se, unlawful or obsolete.
F

SECTION 40

There is nothing in Section 40 that is, per se, unlawful or obsolete.

SECTION 41

There is nothing in Section 41 that is, per Se, unlawful or obsolete.

SECTION 42

Section 42, if followed, constitutes a violation of MO.L. c. 30A, the Massachusetts Open
Meeting Law (the “OML”). This section of the Charter allows four members of the School
Committee to call a private meeting, i.e. an executive session. Unless the reasons for such a
private meeting met the exceptions to the OML allowing executive session, a “private” meeting
of the School Committee would violate the OML. Since the OML hilly governs the conduct of a
public meeting, this section of the charter is largely obsolete.

SECTION 43

Section 43 presents a procedural problem. Nowhere in Section 43, is the term “vacancy”
defined. Similar procedures should be adopted as discussed above in Sections 23 and 32.

SECTION 44

The filing of initiative petitions with the City Council is governed by M.G.L. c. 43, § 37 and the
statutory sections which follow. While there is nothing in Section 44 which is contrary to the
process set forth in M.G.L. c. 43, § 37, et seq., Section 44 of the Charter, therefore is superfluous
as state law controls the filing of local initiative petitions. It should also be noted that initiative
petitions have been held unconstitutional unless the initiative petition sets forth the hill text of
the law or measure proposed by the petition. See Opinion of the Justices to the House of
Representatives, 422 Mass. 1212 (1996).



Gardner City Council
Charter Review Page 13

SECTION 45

Section 45 of the Charter follows M.G.L. c. 43, § 38 and is, therefore, superfluous. However,
Section 45 does not contain the provisions for filing objections which are set forth in M.G.L. c.
43, § 38. To the extent that Section 45 of the Charter and M.G.L. c. 43, § 38 differ, the statute
will control.

SECTION 46

Section 46 of the Charter follows M.G.L. c. 43, § 39. There is conflict between the Charter and
§ 39. M.G.L. c. 43, § 39 requires the City Council to act on a petition signed by 15% of the
registered voters in the City where the Charter requires 20%. Section 46 of the Charter should be
either eliminated (since the state statute controls) or be amended so as to conform to M.G.L. c.
43, § 39. It is, nevertheless, the opinion of the Law Department that any provision in the Charter
which is exhaustively governed by state law is superfluous.

SECTION 47

Section 47 of the Charter follows M.G.L. c. 43, § 40. There is conflict between the Charter and
§ 40. M.G.L. c. 43, § 40 requires action on a petition signed by 8% to 15% of the registered
voters in the City where the Charter requires 8% to less than 20%. Section 47 of the Charter
should be either eliminated (since the state statute controls) or be amended so as to conform to
M.G.L. c. 43, § 40. It is, nevertheless, the opinion of the Law Department that any provision in
the Charter which is exhaustively governed by state law is superfluous.

SECTION 48

M.G.L. c. 43, § 42 controls the process set forth in Section 48 of the Charter. It is the opinion of
the Law Department that Section 48 of the Charter is, therefore, superfluous.

SECTION 49

M.G.L. c. 43, § 43 controls the process set forth in Section 49 of the Charter. It is the opinion of
the Law Department that Section 49 of the Charter is, therefore, superfluous.

SECTION 50

M.G.L. c. 43, § 44 controls the process set forth in Section 50 of the Charter. It is the opinion of
the Law Department that Section 50 of the Charter is, therefore, superfluous.

SECTION 51

Section 51 of the Charter is subject to M.G.L. c. 43, § 41 which states: “The ballots used when
voting upon a proposed measure under section thirty-nine or forty, or a measure or part thereof
protested against under the following section, shall contain only a fair, concise summary of the



Gardner City Council
Charter Review Page 14
measure, as determined by the city solicitor, which shall follow the question, ‘Do you approve of
a measure summarized below?”

The portion of Section 51 requiring that in order to pass, a proposed measure shall not pass
without affirmative votes of at least 1/3 of the whole number of registered voters is addressed by
M.G.L. c. 43, § 50 and also requires an affirmative vote of a majority of those voting on the
measure. Therefore, it is the conclusion of the Law Department that Section 51 of the Charter is
unlawful,

SECTION 52

Section 52 presents an interesting dilemma if a new charter were passed. The first paragraph of
Section 52 is historical in nature and is, therefore, obsolete. The second paragraph, however,
requires further review. There may be laws which were accepted by the Town of Gardner prior
to Gardner becoming a City which only apply to towns. These laws would still apply to Gardner
as a City because of this section. It must be determined if there are any such laws which would
then require legislative action to be codified into an ordinance, or otherwise adopted, if such laws
are still applicable to the efficient operation of the City.

SECTION 53

Section 53 is largely historical in nature and is, therefore, obsolete.

I trust that this review has provided sufficient information to the City Council on this matter. If
the Council has any more detailed questions about specific sections of the Charter, the Law
Department would be happy to review those sections.

yyo

J nM Flick

Cc: Mark P. Hawke, Mayor


